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1. In March, we were awarded the 4" of “Golden Award” issued by the China Management Faculty which was
organized by the “Peking University Business Review”;

2. In March, the two-piece cans business in the Wuhan factory passed the key clients’ certification and
operated smoothly throughout the year;

3. In September, the “West Lake Long Jing Tea Can”, designed by the Group, won the Golden Can Award,
issued by “The Canmaker”;

4. In October, the Group’s “Tinplate Thinning Technology for the Base of Aerosol Can” won the “2011 China
Aerosol Innovation Award”;

5. In October, we joined forces with the China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation to start a monthly donation
project;
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Trophy of Aerosol Innovation Award

Monthly donation for poverty alleviation
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Highlights in 2011 3.5

PETLS

CONTENTS 6. In November, the Group invested actively in developing the aluminum easy open ends packing business,
B and was awarded the 3™ “Capital Outstanding Green Excellence Award” issued by the “Capital” in
recognition of our efforts;

7. In November, the laboratory center of CPMC received the accreditation from China National Accreditation
Board (“CNAS”);

8.  In December, a foundation ceremony was held for the infrastructure project of CPMC Zhenjiang factory;

9. Pursuant to classification standards of the domestic economy and industries and statistics principles of
a legal entity, the Hangzhou factory of the Group was recognized as the “Leading Company of the Metal

CORPORATE
INFORMATION Container Packaging Manufacturing Industry” for five consecutive years by the China Industry News
ARER in 2011. The Managing Director of the Group, Mr. Zhang Xin was elected as the “Leader of the Metal

Container Packaging Manufacturing Industry in the PRC”.
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Vision of the Company:

Chairman’s Letter
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Chairman’s Letter -c._-:.": S s

Dear shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
take this opportunity to present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or
“CPMC”) for the year ended 31 December 2011 (the “Year”).

In 2011, the Group seized the golden opportunity offered by the economic development of China and
endeavored to realize our strategic goal based on the demands of the market and consumers. We maintained
our leading positions in several segments of the metal packaging industry, while also hastening to promote the
strategic arrangement of two-piece beverage aluminium cans (“two-piece cans”) and developed the plastic
packaging business with a steady pace. In 2011, the Group recorded annual sales of approximately RMB4.34
billion, an increase of 27.1% as compared to last year; profit attributable to shareholders of the Company was
about RMB280 million, representing year-on-year growth of 32.0%.

Year 2011 marks the first year of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan of the PRC, the Chinese government had set goals
of realizing steady and relatively faster pace of economic growth, increasing the rate of urbanization and
continuously improving people’s standards of living. During the year, the gross domestic product of China grew
by 9.2%, the per capita disposable income of urban residents increased by 14.1% comparing to last year
and the retail sales of consumer goods for this year has risen by 17.1%. Bolstered by the swift development
of the domestic economy, the demand in consumer goods packaging industry has also increased, in and out
of season. In the meantime, with an increasing concern about food safety, a higher demand for the safety of
food and beverage packaging was put forward by the society. In response to the appeal issued by the Twelfth
Five-Year Plan of the State: “To expedite the development of advanced packaging equipment, new materials
for packaging, and high-ended packaging products”, the Group has accommodated with the demands of
the market. We have put a stronger emphasis on scientific research and we strive to provide consumers with
qualified and safe packaging products through innovative scientific research.

Being among the biggest enterprises in the field of metal packaging in China, the Group has taken a proactive
stance in bearing social responsibility. We have spared no effort to promote energy-saving, reduction of
consumption as well as emission, and we have invented packaging products which are safer and more
environmental-friendly. We are honored to win “the Capital Outstanding Green Excellence Awards” granted by
the “Capital” magazine. Furthermore, in order to show our care towards the disadvantaged and to contribute
to the community, we have arranged the Group’s personnel to cooperate with the China Foundation for Poverty
Alleviation and to start our donation in helping the poor on a monthly basis.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Chairman’s Letter

Looking ahead, even though we are affected by certain adverse circumstances, including the bleak condition
of the global economy, the on-going influence of the global financial crisis, and the undiminished pressure
exerted by the inflation in China, the Group will adopt manifold measures, such as energy saving and emission
reduction, expanding our supply channels, bringing in advanced equipment, and developing packaging
products which are environmental friendly, through which we will be able to acquire competitiveness in the
market and our vision of becoming “the leader in the integrated consumer goods packaging market” will then
be accomplished.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere appreciation to the management and all the staff
of the Group for their enthusiasm and valuable service during the past year. | would also like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders for their continuous support
to the Group. We will devote ourselves to perform our commitments, and prove to our shareholders that we can
deliver an impressive result once again.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2012
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Managing Director’s Report

| have the pleasure to report to the shareholders that the Group realized a turnover of RMB4.34 billion for the year ended 31
December 2011, an increase of 27.1% year-on-year. Profit attributable to shareholders reached RMB280 million, up 32.0% as
compared to RMB212 million of 2010. For the year ended 31 December 2011, basic earnings per share was RMB0.34 (2010:
RMBO0.26).

The board of directors recommends the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.035 (equivalent to HK4.3 cents) (2010:RMB0.026
(equivalent to HK3.1 cents)) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2011. Upon approval by shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the proposed final dividend will be distributed to the shareholders of the Company.

In 2011, the Group had been actively pursuing the strategic objective of “becoming the leader of China’s integrated consumer
product packaging industry”. To fulfill this objective, strenuous efforts have been made in acquiring and retaining customers of
strategic importance, perfecting the professional business management model, carrying out team building and implementing
market-oriented human resources management. Significant progress was also achieved in establishing a supply chain
management system featuring centralized procurement, while substantial investment was made in technical research and
development and the establishment of a system of food safety and quality, materialising the steady development of the Group
as a whole.

CPMC Holdings Limited



P ST 2 Managing Director’'s Report

During the year, the sales of our metal beverage cans showed a significant growth, with the sales revenue increased by 42.1%
compared to last year. While the Company was further consolidating our leading position in the market of three-piece beverage
tinplates cans (“three-piece cans”) products, we at the same time fully utilized the production capacity of the existing two-piece
cans production lines and walked a remarkable step forward to optimizing the regional sales network. We benefited from the
steady rise in the two-piece cans production capacity of our Hangzhou factory, the rapid increase in capacity in two-piece cans
production in Wuhan factory after obtaining certifications from major customers in the first quarter of the year, clinched sales
of approximately 1.47 billion cans in 2011. It is also encouraging to note that our two-piece cans projects in Chengdu factory
and Tianjin factory have been implemented as scheduled and have proceeded to the installation and testing of machines. The
smooth development of the two-piece cans business will certainly enhance our market position, increase our profitability and
strengthen our core competitiveness.

The Company also achieved satisfactory results in the integrated metal packaging business. The businesses in general food
cans, aerosol cans and twist caps were growing steadily. For easy-open ends and printed and coated tinplates businesses,
while fulfilling the Company’s internal needs for ancillary products to the maximum extent, we have also proactively
accommodated the market demands. Under the increasing concern over food quality and safety, the milk powder cans
business gained clients’ recognition for its good quality and thus achieved remarkable growth. Due to the full utilization of the
production capacity of the steel barrels business and the successful merger and restructuring of Kunshan factory, sales results
achieved rapid growth.

The plastic packaging business is the Group’s major focus of development. With a view to securing the client base of Shanghai
Pingguan that the Group has acquired; we have further developed our business in Central and Southern China, by renting
production plants, increasing investments in equipment and continuing to focus on the market demands of personal care and
household chemical products. In 2011, the sales income amounted to approximately RMB197 million, representing an increase
of 57.6% as compared to 2010.

In 2011, we valued good quality control for our products and promoted the application of new technology and development
of new products through enhancing research and innovation. In November 2011, the laboratory of the Company was given
national accreditation, and the food safety inspection projects obtained authorization from China National Accreditation Board
for Conformity Assessment (“CNAS”), making our laboratory the only laboratory receiving such national accreditation in the
metal packaging industry in the PRC. Inspired by the trend in food safety in China, the United States and Europe, we have
successfully developed a safe coating material that is both PVC- and biphenol A-free. Through technological innovation,
the Group was able to improve the cost-effectiveness of raw materials and thus reduce wastage, that is exemplified by the
research and application of thinner aluminum raw material techniques in the Hangzhou and Wuhan factories, the increasing
use of wave-cut technology to increase the cost-effectiveness of tinplates in the Wuxi factory and the successful reform in
energy-saving printing and coating stoves in the Panyu factory.

Our company has attentively fulfilled our social responsibility and has been taking an active role in protecting our environment.
Under the low involvement in charity from the community in China, we cooperated with the China Foundation for Poverty
Alleviation to kick off monthly donation events for poverty, that has driven the charity business in China by such monthly
donations. We also actively invested in the development of the environmental-friendly two-piece cans, and in recognition of our
excellent contribution to environmental protection, the Group was awarded the “Capital Outstanding Green Excellence Awards”
by the “Capital” magazine.

Looking ahead, following the rapid growth of China’s economy, the steady growth in domestic consumer market and the rise in
living standard, the packaging industry has embraced a bright and promising future. Besides, the competition as well as the
integration within the industry will bring about opportunities and challenges, and the Group is confident about the development
of our business. We will continue to implement our established development strategy and upgrade our innovative capabilities
in research and development, while every endeavor will be made in exploring potential markets with a view to increasing our
market share. We are well-equipped, as well as fully confident to provide our customers with products which are environmental-
friendly, safe and healthy that generating greater value to our valuable shareholders.

Zhang Xin
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 26 March 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods such as food,
beverages and household chemical products including tea drinks, carbonated drinks, fruit and vegetable
juices, beer, milk products and household chemical products. In addition, the Group provides integrated
packaging solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive
customer services. As the largest manufacturing enterprise of metal packaging in China, the Group endeavored
to be “the leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China”. The products
portfolio of the Group mainly include metal beverage cans (two-piece beverage aluminum cans and three-piece
beverage tinplates cans), integrated metal packaging products and plastic packaging products. The Group
conducts its business through 14 operating subsidiaries and their branches, which are distributed strategically
in different regions in China, in order to provide effective services to the customers of the Group. We ranked first
in many market sub-segments and attracted and gained the trust of a lot of domestic and international famous
brand clients. The Group has a well-established customer base, including domestic and international renowned
high-end consumer goods manufacturers.
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@ @ Zhangjiagang
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(1)

St Management Discussion and Analysis

METAL BEVERAGE CANS AR

DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS

2011 2010 Change (%) EEERLR D
Sales (RMB’ Million) 2,210 1,655 42.1%
Sales volume (can’ Million) 3,184 2,161 47.3%

of which:

Three-piece cans (can’ Million) 1,717 1,682 21%
Two-piece cans (can’ Million) 1,467 479 206.3%
Gross profit (RMB’ Million) 390 269 45.0%
Gross profit margin (%) 17.6% 17.3% 0.3%

CORPORATE

. . , . GOVERNANCE

The metal beverage cans of the Group include three-piece beverage tinplates cans (“three-piece cans”) REPORT

and two-piece beverage aluminum cans (“two-piece cans”) which are mainly used for the packaging of ERERES
carbonated drinks, beer, tea drinks, protein drinks, energy drinks, congees, fruit and vegetable juices and

coffees.

The Group is a leading metal beverage cans manufacturer in China, which possesses 14 advanced
three-piece cans production lines, and 2 two-piece cans production lines equipped with international
leading technology. Each two-piece cans production line produces over 2,000 cans per minute. In 2011,
the sales of metal beverage cans was the major source of income of the Group, the sales for the year

were approximately 3,184 million cans, the sales income was approximately RMB2,210 million, increased DIRECTOFSKEQISE
by 42.1% as compared to 2010, accounting for approximately 50.9% of the overall sales of the Group MANAGEMENT
(2010: approximately 45.5%). The gross profit margin for the metal beverage cans business has improved §$&%§gf§'§
generally in 2011, accounting for 17.6% (2010: approximately 17.3%), an increase by 0.3% as compared AEEN
to the previous year, the main reasons were that the two-piece cans production line in Wuhan factory

reached the production target rapidly after obtaining the certification from key clients in the first quarter of

2011 and the two-piece cans production line in Hangzhou factory was running at full gear throughout the

year to meet the market demands.

The sales of the three-piece cans amounted to approximately 1,717 million cans (2010: approximately 1,682

million cans), representing an increase of 2.1% as compared to the previous year. The major reason for the REP%T;E%FTSEE
increase was to meet up with the changes of the beverage packaging format of our strategic client JDB, BEeHs

whose beverage can orders were changed from three-piece cans to two-piece cans. We became more
capable of fulfilling the order needs of other customers. In 2011, the production reached the maximum
capacity and the capacity utilization rate of the Group for the year surpassed 90%. At the same time, our
market share also expanded. The sales to other clients other than JDB grew by 34%. The major clients of
three-piece beverage cans were JDB, Red Bull and LolLo, Yangyuan and Dali Group etc..

Annual Report 2011 1 3
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(2)

The two-piece cans are light in weight, easy to be transported, and it can be fully recycled and reused.
Therefore, it is said to be an eco-friendly packaging product. It is also the main focus of our business
development. We obtained a remarkable result with the effective promotion following the listing of our
shares, and won the Green Excellence Awards in 2011. Wuhan factory has reached the production target
after obtaining the certification from key clients in the first quarter of 2011. The two-piece cans production
line in Hangzhou factory was operating at a steady pace. The total sales volume of the two-piece cans
in 2011 reached 1,467 million cans (2010: approximately 479 million cans). The tentative strategic
arrangement of the Group has already been completed in 2011. Apart from the factories in Wuhan and
the Hangzhou which have commenced operation, the two-piece cans production lines in Tianjin and
Chengdu factories have entered into the stage of installation and testing of machines by the end of 2011.
It is anticipated that the factories will be in operation in the first quarter of 2012. In order to better fulfill the
market demand, the Group has planned to keep investing in the two-piece cans production line, such that
our business structure will be optimized. On one hand, the Group solidified the linkage with existing clients,
for example, JDB, Coco-cola (China), Tsingtao Brewery Group, China Resources Beer, on the other hand,
we also built close relationships with Anheuser-Busch InBev, Pepsi Cola and Heineken. Thus, the future
development of the Group will be expanded solidly.

INTEGRATED METAL PACKAGING

2011 2010 Change (%)
Sales (RMB’ Million) 1,935 1,737 11.4%
Gross profit (RMB’ Million) 272 230 18.3%
Gross profit margin (%) 14.1% 13.2% 0.9%

The integrated metal packaging business of the Group includes food cans, aerosol cans, metal caps,
printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels and other metal packaging. In China we are in a leading position
in several market sub-segments of the integrated metal packaging business, including being the first in
market sub-segments such as the milk powder cans, aerosol cans and twist caps in China.

In 2011, the sales of the integrated metal packaging business was approximately RMB1,935 million (2010:
approximately RMB1,737 million), representing an increase of 11.4% as compared to 2010, accounting
for approximately 44.6% of the overall sales (2010: approximately 50.8%). In 2011, gross profit of the
integrated metal packaging business was approximately RMB272 million (2010: approximately RMB230
million), representing an increase of approximately 18.3% over the last year.

(i) Food cans

The products for the food cans business include milk powder cans and ordinary food cans. We
are the largest manufacturer of milk powder cans in China. The sales income was approximately
RMB323 million in 2011 (2010: approximately RMB258 million), of which, the business of milk powder
cans maintained a fast growth, with sales income amounting to approximately RMB264 million
(2010: approximately RMB190 million), increased by 38.9% as compared to 2010. As the demand
of customers towards food safety system certification and product quality has increased and the
investments and production capacities of both local and overseas first-tier milk power manufacturers
have increased, the orders for the milk powder cans of the Group have increased drastically. The
renowned clients of the Group are Mead Johnson, Beingmate, Amway (China), Unilever, Wyeth and
Yili etc..

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(ii) Aerosol cans
We are the largest manufacturer of aerosol cans in China. The products we provide mainly consisted
of packing household chemical products e.g. car accessories, air fresheners, personal care products,
pesticides & other chemical products. The sales income was approximately RMB316 million in
2011, which was similar to the previous year. Benefiting from our effective cost control measures, we
realized an improvement for the gross margin. Renowned clients we had were Shenzhen Caihong, SC
Johnson, Euro Asia and Kangda etc..

(iii) Metal caps

The products of metal caps include twist caps, crown caps and easy-open ends. The sales income

was approximately RMB632 million in 2011 (2010: approximately RMB642 million), which dropped

1.6% as compared to 2010. The reason for the decrease was due to the increase of internal orders for

the Group’s beverage cans. The easy-open ends were the major ancillary product used by the Group.

As the production volume increased by 48%, the external sales performance fell as compared to

2010. We are the largest manufacturer of twist caps in the PRC, the sales income was approximately

RMB377 million in 2011 (2010: approximately RMB345 million), which increased 9.3% as compared to

2010. The renowned clients of the Group are HADAY, Huanlejia, Jiajiahong and Kengfa etc..

(iv) Printed and coated tinplates

Our printed and coated tinplates are used in gift candy boxes, food, chemicals, caps, batteries and

other electronic and electric appliances (e.g. rice cookers). The products are also used by ourselves

to produce cans and caps. The renowned clients of the Group are Sinopec, T.G. Battery, Panasonic

(Shanghai) and Midea etc.. The sales income was approximately RMB177 million in 2011 (2010:

approximately RMB175 million), which maintained a similar level as compared to the previous year.

(v) Steel barrels

We produce steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres and above, which are used for the packaging
of edible oil, juice, fruit jam, industrial essence and fragrance and lubricants etc.. We increased the
investment in Eastern China in 2011, which included the acquisition for the shares of CPMC (Kunshan)
Limited from the external shareholders and the reinforcement in production management and sales
performance. The sales income for the year was approximately RMB303 million (2010: approximately
RMB194 million), which increased by 56.2% as compared to 2010. The renowned clients for the steel
barrels business of the Group are PetroChina, Sinopec and Huntsman etc..

PLASTIC PACKAGING

2011 2010 Change (%)
Sales (RMB’ Million) 197 125 57.6%
Gross profit (RMB’ Million) 32.7 26.6 22.9%
Gross profit margin (%) 16.6% 21.3% (4.7%)

Our plastic packaging products are mainly for the packaging of personal care, food and beverage
and household chemical products. The sales income of the plastic packaging business in 2011 was
approximately RMB197 million (2010: approximately RMB125 million), representing an increase of 57.6% as
compared to 2010, accounting for 4.5% of the overall sales (2010: 3.7%). Following the development of the
economy and the improvement of living standards in China, consumption for personal care and household
chemical products have increased as well. We are actively expanding to seek new customers. We stepped
up to the construction of our production facilities in different regions, in order to fulfill the requirements
of the renowned clients for the supply of our products in regions which are nearest to the clients. Due to
the increase of the investments in fixed assets, the gross profit margin of the plastic packaging business
dropped during the stage of market expansion. The renowned clients of the plastic packaging business
are Johnson & Johnson, Blue Moon, Johnson and Reckitt Benckiser etc..
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

As at 31 December 2011, the sales income of the Group were approximately RMB4,342 million (2010:
approximately RMB3,417 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB925 million or 27.1%. The
growth of the metal beverage cans, the integrated metal packaging and the plastic packaging business were
particularly remarkable. The gross profit margin showed a slight increase in 2011, which reached approximately
16.0% (2010: approximately 15.4%).

Profit for the year of the Group reached approximately RMB286 million (2010: approximately RMB218 million),
representing an increase of 31.2% as compared to the previous year. This was mainly attributed to the relatively
strong growth in the operation size as a whole, and the increased efficiency in the control of the cost of
purchase and the production operation.

GROUP PROFIT

For the year in 2011, the operating profit before tax of our Group was approximately RMB363 million (2010:
approximately RMB286 million), which increased by approximately RMB77 million or 26.9% as compared to
same period in the previous year.

Net finance income was approximately RMB14.6 million (2010: the net cost was approximately RMB6.7 million),
which decreased by approximately RMB21.3 million as compared to the corresponding period last year. It was
mainly because of the increase in the deposit interest income.

Tax expense was approximately RMB77 million (2010: approximately RMB68 million), which increased by
13.2%. The tax concession (two-year tax exemption and three-year reduction by half) of the subsidiaries will all
be expired in 2013. It is expected that the applicable income tax rate of the Group for 2014 would be 25%.The
effective income tax rate of the Group for 2011 was approximately 21.3% (2010: approximately 23.7%).

OUTLOOK IN 2012

Looking forward in 2012, the Group expected that the development of the consumer goods market in China
will continue to maintain steady growth with the development of China’s economy. We are optimistic about the
prospects of our business and our corporate development. The Group will devote great efforts to meet up with
the strategic target — “the leader in the integrated consumer good packaging in the PRC”. We will also keep
investing on the expansion of the two-piece cans business and plastic packaging business, and strengthening
our leading position in the tinplates metal packaging sector. In 2012, the two production lines of the two-piece
cans in the factories in Chengdu and Tianjin will be in operation, the additions of two-piece cans production
lines in Hangzhou factory and Guangzhou factory will start as well. For the plastic packaging business, the
regional distribution network will be enlarged through self-development or merging. Therefore, the pace of the
development of the personal care and food and beverage plastic packaging business will be quickened.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2011, the Group’s main source of fund was cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

As at 31 December

2011 2010
RMB’ (Million) RMB’ (Million)
Net assets 2,638 2,401
Cash and cash equivalents 1,612 481
Total borrowings 2,191 520
Shareholders’ equity 2,554 2,323
Current ratio 2.38 1.40
Gearing ratio* 22.7% 1.7%

* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity, in which the net borrowings are
calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB2,638 million (2010: approximately
RMB2,401 million). Amount attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately RMB2,554 million,
which increased by 9.9% as compared to approximately RMB2,323 million as at 31 December 2010.

As at 31 December 2011, the current ratio and the gearing ratio were approximately 2.38 and approximately
22.7%, respectively (2010: approximately 1.40 and 1.7%, respectively). The gearing ratio increased from
approximately 1.7% as at 31 December 2010 to approximately 22.7% as at 31 December 2011. It was mainly
attributed to the bank borrowings increased from approximately RMB520 million as at 31 December 2010
to approximately RMB2,191 million as at 31 December 2011. Among the bank borrowings, an amount of
approximately RMB369 million was one-year short-term loans. This amount was used as an addition to the
working capital. The carrying amount of the pledged assets for acquiring the bank borrowings and finance was
approximately RMB148 million (2010: approximately RMB178 million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB717 million, which was as
follows:

Percentage to

total capital

RMB’ (Million) expenditure

Chengdu two-piece beverage aluminum cans production line 177 24.7%

Wuhan two-piece beverage aluminum cans production line 56 7.8%

Infrastructure in Tianjin and the purchase of equipment 194 27.1%

Steel Barrel projects 120 16.7%
Investments in infrastructure in Panyu and the purchase of

equipment in Shanghai 170 23.7%

Total 717 100.0%
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As at 31 December 2011, the capital expenditure of acquiring property, plant and equipment was approximately
RMB244 million (2010: approximately RMB159 million), which has been contracted but not provided. Other
than operating lease commitments and capital commitments, as at 31 December 2011, the Group had no other
significant commitments and contingent liabilities (2010: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits which
are in U.S. dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash balances are denominated in RMB. The
directors of the Company consider that exchange rate fluctuation has no significant impact on the Company’s
business and results of operation.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has 6,299 full-time employees (2010: 6,275), of which about 1,481 are
engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows the
number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2011:

No. of Percentage of

Function employees total sum
Management and Administration 738 11.7%
Sales and Marketing 292 4.6%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 740 11.8%
Production and Quality Control 4,529 71.9%
Total 6,299 100.0%

For the year in 2011, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB346 million (2010: RMB261 million).
The Group determined the salary of our employees based on their performance, the standard of salary in the
respective regions, and the market and industry conditions. The benefits of the employees in the PRC included
pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and job-related injury insurance
and housing fund contributions. In addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary
contributions to an annuity plan, which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the
Group’s employees when they reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included
mandatory provident fund, life insurance and medical insurance.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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USE OF PROCEEDS UPON ISSUANCE OF NEW SHARES

In November 2009, the Company issued 230,000,000 new shares of par value HK$0.10 each pursuant to the
Company’s initial public offering, raising net proceeds of approximately RMB1,000 million (or approximately
HK$1,141 million), in which approximately RMB881 million has been used as follows:

As at 31 December 2011

Planned amount Utilised amount
RMB’ (Million) RMB’ (Million)

Capital Expenditure Projects:
— Wuhan project 383 (361)
— Chengdu project 144 (144)
— Panyu project 180 (83)
— Other projects 120 (120)
Repayment of bank loans 96 (96)
Working capital 77 (77)
Total 1,000 (881)

The remaining portion of the net proceeds was deposited on short-term deposits with licensed financial
institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

|
P | Shareholders

| \
PQ Board of Directors

Company \
Secretary |

External \
Auditor |

The board of directors of the Company (“Directors” or the “Board”) are fully aware of the importance of
corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes that a good and solid corporate governance
framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and retaining talent, enhancing customer loyalty
and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its position as a leading manufacturer of packaging
products for a comprehensive range of consumer goods. The Company had adopted all the code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2009
(the “Listing date”), the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time with an aim to maintaining and further enhancing the standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company, in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and
maximize the interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and
the community as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Upon specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible to lead and control the business operations of the Group. Decisions made are driven
for the best interests of the shareholders and for maximizing the shareholders’ return. Directors formulate
strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the financial and management performance of the
Group as a whole.

The Board comprised a combination of two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report.

Executive Directors:
- Mr. Wang Jinchang (Chairman)
—  Mr. Zhang Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
- Mr. Ning Gaoning

—  Mr. Zhou Zheng

—  Mr. Hu Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:
- Mr. Shi Wanpeng

- Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

- Mr. Fu Tingmei

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having sound industry knowledge, extensive
corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of Directors is set out on pages 36 to 37 of this annual report.

Mr. Xue Gouping resigned as a Chairman of the Board and an executive Director with effect from 16 January
2011 as he had reached the retirement age, and Mr. Wang Jinchang (“Mr Wang”) was appointed as a Chairman
of the Board on the same day.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-third
of the Board. Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, who is one of the independent non-executive Directors, has a professional
qualification in accountancy. The independent non-executive Directors serve the important function of ensuring
and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the
review of continuing connected transactions described in the other section of this annual report. The Board
confirms that the Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation
of independence for the year ended 31 December 2011 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers such directors to be independent.
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Functions of the Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal
of maximizing the shareholders’ return. The Board has the following main duties:

e  determination of all the corporate matters;

e be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
e be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;
e formulating business strategies and business plans;

e planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
e  evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
e annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company, formulation of
overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and management, and approval of
matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules.

Management, under the leadership of the Managing Director, is responsible for the business and day-to-day
operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and policies set by the Board. The Managing
Director is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board of Directors

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the Board
have been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and the senior management. On 23 October 2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations, business strategies and
day-to-day management to the Managing Director and senior management. The final decision(s) are still under
the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the three committees.

Chairman and Managing Director

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and Managing Director are
separated and are not performed by the same individual. In substance, Mr. Wang was appointed in January
2011 as the Chairman who is responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the
Board. Furthermore, the Chairman encourages and facilitates active contribution of Directors in the Board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the
executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Wang ensures the Directors receive adequate information,
which is complete and reliable, in a timely manner. While the Managing Director, Mr. Zhang Xin, is primarily
responsible for the executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to ensure the Group’s business
plans and strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three
years from 23 October 2009. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive Director
or independent non-executive Director for a term of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of these service
agreements and letters of appointment may be terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than
three months’ prior notice in writing.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provide that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also under
the Company’s Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Company’s
Articles to remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in the Company’s Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. The Board meets physically and
regularly. During the year ended 31 December 2011, 5 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the
meetings in person or by telephone in accordance with the Company’s Articles. Summary of the Directors’
meeting attendance is as follows:

Attendance/Total meetings

Executive Directors

Mr. Xue Guoping* N/A
Mr. Wang Jinchang 4/5
Mr. Zhang Xin 4/5

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning 4/5
Mr. Zhou Zheng 4/5
Mr. Hu Yonglei 4/5

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Wanpeng 5/5

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 5/5

Mr. Fu Tingmei 5/5
* On 16 January 2011, Mr. Xue Gouping resigned as a Chairman of the Board and an executive Director

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2011, there was 1 out of the 5 board meetings related to connected transactions,
in which all the above executive Directors and non-executive Directors had interest and had abstained from attending
and voting at that board meeting.
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are usually served to all Directors
before the meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to
all Directors. Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary
to include any matters in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with
comprehensive briefing papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of
written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his associates have any material interest in any
proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a meeting of
the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in which he
or any of his associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the Company’s
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2011/2012. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for the legal action of corporate activities against them.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take lead where potential
conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three independent non-
executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) upon
the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority
and duties. A majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2011. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 3/3
Mr. Hu Yonglei# 3/3

*

Independent Non-executive Director
# Non-executive Director

The Financial Controller and the Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes drafted by the
Company Secretary had been circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the
meetings. No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements

of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

e review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;
e monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system; and

e  consider the independence of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, the internal control system and financial reporting matters. It also reviewed
the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s annual reports, the management letter from the
auditors of the Company and the audit scope and fees for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year ending
2012.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the
terms of reference for the Nomination Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code and are posted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website and the Company’s website. A
majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The key objective of the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the nominees for
appointment as Director and senior management of the Group.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2011 to review the structure, size and
composition, including the skills, knowledge and experience of the Board, make recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes to the Board and assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. The composition and the details of the attendance records of members of the Nomination Committee
are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Wang Jinchang (Committee Chairman)” N/A
Mr. Ning Gaoning (Committee Chairman ) 1/1
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 11
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 11

Independent Non-executive Director

# Non-executive Director. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 5 March 2012, Mr. Ning Gaoning resigned as
a Chairman and a member of Nomination Committee.

A Chairman of the Board. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 5 March 2012, Mr. Wang Jinchang was

appointed as a Chairman and a Member of Nomination Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to
state its authority and duties. A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and making recommendation to the Board on the
Group’s remuneration policy, the determination of specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management and making recommendations to the Board the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
It takes into consideration on factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of Directors and senior management, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance based remuneration. It may access to independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense if considered necessary.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follow the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are posted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website and the
Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2011 to assess and review the
remuneration packages and overall benefits for the Directors and the senior management of the Company.
The composition and the details of the attendance records of members of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings

Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman)* 11

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 17

Mr. Wang Jinchang* 17
* Independent Non-executive Director

# Executive Director
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2011. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The internal control system
has been designed to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. It should provide a
basis for the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in compliance with the relevant rules and
regulations. The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of internal control system (including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions) of the Group. The Board
considered that the internal control system is effective and adequate and the Company has complied with the
code provisions on internal control of the CG Code.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhancing the efficiency of operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditors’ Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31
December 2011 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 2,050
Non-audit services* 660
Total 2,710

*

CPMC Holdings Limited

Such services included interim report review and compliance review relating to continuing connected transactions.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognizes the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the
Listing Rules and press releases of the Company providing updated information of the Group;

(iii) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and Stock Exchange’s website; and

(iv) holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to time.
There is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders and general presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and raise
enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website.

Shareholders’ Right

The Annual General Meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on 7 June 2012 (the “2012 AGM”)
will provide opportunities for the shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the management
and the external auditors. At the 2012 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and the chairman/
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will be
available thereat to answer questions from the shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, the Company should arrange the notice to shareholders to be sent in the
case of annual general meetings at least 21 clear days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 clear days
in the case of all other general meeting.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2012 AGM. The shareholders
will be allowed to have one vote for every share they held. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at
the meeting and published on the website of the Stock Exchange and Company respectively.
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CORPORATE’S SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

We provide environmental packaging and high-quality, world-decorating, life-embellishing and devoted services
to our customers, shareholders and employees. Contribution to the community is an important element in our
corporate culture. The Group strives to prevent environmental pollution, reduce energy consumption and waste
discharge, promote employment, concern our employees’ living and development, and take part in a variety of
social welfare activities.

1. Employees

As the leading manufacturer in the packaging industry, CPMC has grown with a blistering speed. We
are well aware that dedication from talented personnel is crucial for maintaining our leading position.
Regarding human resources management, it is our key objective for each subsidiary to actively become
a model enterprise in its locality while establishing itself as the best employer well trusted by the staff.
Through strict compliance with the PRC laws, local regulations and the employment practice, such as the
“Labor Contract Law” and the “Protection on Women’s Rights and Interests Law”, and properly dealing
with labor relationship, a harmonious environment for employment was promoted and maintained. Fair
employment, benefits of our staff, communication with and management of the labor union had been
continuously enhanced. We placed importance on employees’ rights and benefits. CPMC is dedicated
in helping our staff to develop through professional training and a clear career path. In order to create a
win-win situation for our customers, shareholders, staff and the whole society, the Group will endeavor to
upgrade the skills of our employees, rationalize human resources allocation and constantly improve the
efficiency in human resources.

(i) Fair Employment and Harmonious Internal Communication

While securing the stable growth of the existing businesses, the new businesses had also achieved
rapid development and increased in scale, thus creating more favourable employment opportunities.
According to the strategy of the Group, production plants in Wuhan and Kunshan have been set
up and the investments in the production plants in Tianjin, Chengdu, Panyu and Zhenjiang were
increased, which together offered more attractive job vacancies to job seekers. In 2011, we have
in total employed over 500 personnel of different categories. Factories in Hangzhou, Shanghai
and Chengdu were appraised as “Advanced Enterprise in Harmonious Labor Relation”, “A Grade
Enterprise in Harmonious Labor Relation” and “Outstanding Enterprise for Excellence in Job
Placement” by the respective local governments. Moreover, we created a variety of channels for
internal communication for our staff, such as the “CPMC Press”, internal forum, Managing Director’s
blog, opinion box, TV channel, and symposium and so on in order to keep timely and smooth sharing
of opinions and information within the Company.

(ii) Remunerations and Benefits

We ensured to implement the benefits and remunerations policies of our staff in accordance with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, including full payments of various statutory social insurances and
the entitlement to national holidays, as well as adjustments of salary from time to time in accordance
with the requirements of the government and the actual conditions of the enterprise. In 2011, the
Company strictly complied with the raise in salary level adjusted by the government, which increased
labor costs by approximately RMB25 million. Besides, the scope of the annuity and a variety of
casualty and medical insurances have been enlarged. Staff meals and labour protection equipment
were also improved. We also introduced numerous innovative incentives to improve the performance
of the team, thereby our staff are more practically rewarded.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Livings of Employees and Self-management

We put our best efforts to create a desirable working and living environment for our staff. “Dorm’s
Association” and “Catering Committee” have been established to maintain regular and sound
communication with the Company and to facilitate the rectification of problems and the implementation
of suggestions, which significantly enhanced communication between staff and the Company and
strengthened self-management. At the same time, the Company organized a lot of entertainments and
competitions, such as Company Trip, Basketball Match, Tug of War, Karaoke Singing Contest, Speech
Contest, Writing Contest and Quiz Competition etc, thereby enriching our employees’ leisure activities,
enhancing their sense of identity and sense of belonging towards the Company, and boosting
communication and team spirit among employees.

Development of the Personnel and Win-Win Situation

The Company is highly concerned about the development and skill improvement of our personnel.
We established channels of professional skill improvement and channels of promotion for our staff,
facilitating them to better realize self-value based on their personal interests and strengths, and grow
in tandem with the Company. We actively organized different kinds of staff training programs; in
particular, we conducted 22 on-site trainings with renowned tertiary institutions such as the Zhejiang
University, the Wuhan University and the Zhejiang University of Technology. We have cooperated with
2 to 3 vocational schools, and have successfully trained 51 qualified technicians. During 2011, we
have arranged training sessions for 48,282 staff and the total training time reached approximately
11,635 hours with training expenses amounting to RMB450,000. According to the actual needs of
the Company, we have actively arranged more than 10 training sessions for general managers and
upgrade courses for factory directors. The “Scheme of Training for the First-Tier Team Leaders” was
established, under such scheme, team leaders of elementary level participated in the “Online Remote
Training for Team Leaders in State Enterprise” organized by the Tsinghua University in groups, which
aimed at improving the management skill of first-tier team leaders, and we are glad to announce that
all the external trainings for management skills for the first-tier personnel have been accomplished.
Furthermore, we have established the “Scheme of Multi-Functional Training for the Packaging
Workers”, through the technique competitions we organized, such as printing retooling contest and
forklift contest, we successfully improved the skill of our staff, standardized our requirements, aroused
the enthusiasm of the employee, improved the technical standards and efficiency of our production.
Intensive training will be provided to prospective graduates and occupational training for new staff will
be enhanced.

2. Community Services

U]

(i)

Helping our employees in difficulties

In 2011, we continued to take initiative to help employees and groups in need. We spent a total of
approximately RMB117,325 to help 111 employees who were in difficulties (80% of them were rural
migrant workers). At the same time, we helped some relatives of our staff in difficult situations to
secure jobs and re-designated staff who encountered difficulties.

Poverty Alleviation with monthly donations

In 2011, we have successfully planned and implemented our project of poverty alleviation fund, and
received overwhelming supports from our staff as well. In October 2011, the Ceremony of Monthly
Donation for Poverty Alleviation was held in Beijing, and we were pleased to have Mr. Duan Yingbi, the
President of the China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation and Mr. Ning Gaoning, the Chairman of the
COFCO, and the press to join our ceremony. Afterwards, the Company actively encouraged its staff
to participate in the monthly donations, with the number of participants reaching 1,877 and donation
amounting to RMB33,212 per month. The establishment of the Foundation for Poverty Alleviation
drives CPMC to take part and support social and charity business, make contributions to the society

and become a fine model of corporate citizenship.
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(iii) Participation in Community Services

The subsidiaries of CPMC have also actively organized and carried out various charitable activities
in their respective regions as practicable. For example, the Panyu factory had launched a blood
donation for no reward event and actively participated in the “Guangdong Poverty Alleviation Day
& Guangzhou Charity Day”. Wuxi factory has also been supportive to charity activities, launching
the “Day for Donation” to show concern and care for those of our staff in need. Zhenjiang factory
has raised its own funds for the poverty, which were well received by the community, and effectively
bolstered our corporate image.

3. Energy Saving, Eco-Friendly, Quality and Safety

(i) Energy Saving and Eco-Friendly

CPMC has never taken a single pause on shouldering social responsibility, especially for
environmental protection. In 2011, the Company actively explored breakthroughs in technical
innovation and carried out certain key projects such as the self-reformation of two-piece cans
electrical equipment and technical reform in reducing energy utilization in printing stoves. It is worth-
mentioning that the energy reduction and technical reform project of printing and coating stove
lead by the technology center has achieved distinguished results. The energy reduction model of
waste gas treatment furnace of printing and coating line stove was introduced to Shenzhen and
Tianjin factories as the pilot spots. Encouragingly, the natural gas consumption was reduced by
approximately 60% as compared to other models, which means for each production line, the natural
gas consumption has been reduced by 40m® per hour. In 2012, about RMB10.17 million will be
retrenched yearly on average if the Company implements the energy saving and emission reduction
project as planned.

Additionally, the Group has established its own waste water processing stations to handle waste water
generated from our operation, while solid wastes were all processed by specialized environmental
companies. Moreover, in order to be an eco-friendly enterprise, we have adopted numerous new
eco-technologies and techniques which include:

(a) The recycling project on the used cleaning agent for printing and coating line has been launched
in all the subsidiaries and the total amount of solvent that has been recycled is about 112 tonnes.
The recycled agent can be reused in our cleaning processes, thus reducing the pollution to the
environment and the handling fee. The average expense saved per year is about RMB3 million.

(b) Energy consumption value per RMB10,000 of the Company was 115.33 kg of standard coal per
RMB10,000 in 2010, and it reduced to 112.28 kg of standard coal per RMB10,000 in 2011. The
indexes of the energy consumption and the pollutants emission have met the requirements set by
the government. The aggregate amount of investment on energy saving and emission reduction
for the whole year reached RMB7.86 million.

(ii) Product Safety
10 testing measures have been invented by the Food Safety Laboratory of the Company and a
comprehensive set of standards was thereby established. The fruitful result of this project is a first
in the industry. Our laboratory is the only recognized chemical laboratory in the metal packaging
industry that gained the CNAS national accreditation, and is one of the core units of the cooperation
and interaction platform established with the Laboratory of the Department of Science and Technology
in Zhejiang Province.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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At the same time, the Company has systematically commenced a spate of product safety works.
First, we regularly collected and updated information about the newest food safety directives on
food packaging domestically or overseas. We also organized meetings to discuss and review on the
feasibility and effectiveness of the internal standards of implementation. Moreover, we prepared the
“CPMC Food Packaging Safety Testing Process” and monitored its implementation. Based on the
ISO22000 and the distinctive features of the products, we examined the food safety system of our
subsidiaries. An archive of raw materials relating to products and food safety was created and the
“CPMC Food Packaging Raw Materials Safety Testing Requirement” was prepared and implemented

accordingly.

Meanwhile, we convened an annual meeting on food safety with coating suppliers, the participating
suppliers have solemnly declared and endorsed the target of regularly carrying out inspection on
quality system and food safety system of key suppliers and completing the annual assessment of the
key suppliers of the Group with an aim to reinforcing control at the source.

We will improve the emergency measures and the trace back system and organize recycling
rehearsals for our subsidiaries. Moreover, we will convene training sessions on domestic and overseas
food safety standards and inspection measures, which are entirely to ensure no food safety accident

during the year.

In recognition of the efforts the Group in actively promoting the production and sales of environmental
friendly and recyclable two-piece beverage aluminium can after listing of the Group, we were awarded
the “Capital Outstanding Green Excellence Awards” issued by the “Capital” magazine in November
2011 for appraising the contributions of enterprises in promoting a green economy.

General Manager, Mr. Zhang Xin
signed on the monthly donation list

“Joy in July” Staff Games.

The enthusiasm of our staff in
community services.

[—

q

Annual meeting on food safety
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Directors and Senior Management Profile &%

ZHOU Zheng WANG Jinchang ZHANG Xin HU Yonglei

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Jinchang, aged 57, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company. He took over the
position of Mr. Xue as the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 16 January 2011. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible
for the overall management, major decision-making, strategic planning and business development of the Group. He joined
COFCO in 1990 and has served as the deputy director and director of the general manager’s office, general manager of
the corporate management department of COFCO, as well as the chairman and general manager of COFCO Development
Company Limited. He joined the Group in December 2000 and was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. He has over
ten years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Wang served as an assistant to the chairman of COFCO since 2007,
in charge of the packaging business. Mr. Wang graduated from the Hebei University in 1978, with a major in Mathematics.

ZHANG Xin, aged 49, is an executive Director and a general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible
for the operation management of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was appointed a Director
on 23 June 2008. He has 19 years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree
in Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang
Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master's degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern China
in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his
outstanding contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHOU Zheng, aged 49, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhou is primarily responsible for providing
constant advice and guidance at the strategic level over the business and operations of the operating subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Zhou joined the Group in November 1994, and was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. He has over
15 years of experience in the packaging industry. He has also been the general manager of COFCO Property (Group)
Co., Ltd., a member of the COFCO which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since June 2008. He has been the
deputy chairman of the Association of Packaging Technologies of Zhejiang Province since 2000 and the China Packaging
Federation since 2005. Mr. Zhou received a bachelor's degree in Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang
Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master's degree in
Aeronautical and Aerospace Manufacturing Engineering from Beijing University of Aeronautics & Astronautics in 1992. In
2007, Mr. Zhou was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding
contributions to the development of packaging industry in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

HU Yonglei, aged 44, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for reviewing the financial
reporting procedures and internal control system of the Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO in 2005 and the Group when he
was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Hu has over 10 years of experience in investment management. Mr. Hu
held the position of general manager of strategic division of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”) from
March 2007 to April 2009. Currently, he is a deputy head of the strategy department and general manager of the investment
management division of COFCO and also a director of Dalian COFCO Malt Co., Ltd.. Mr. Hu also held positions as a director
from December 2005 to August 2008 of China Resources (dJilin) Bio-chemical Co., Ltd. (now known as Xi'an Aero-engine
Plc), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Hu received a bachelor's degree in Engineering from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in 1989 and a master's degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in 1992.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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FU Tingmei NING Gaoning SHI Wanpeng CHENG Yuk Wo

NING Gaoning, aged 53, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ning takes a supervisory role on the strategic
and budget planning of the Group. Mr. Ning joined COFCO in December 2004 and the Group when he was appointed a
Director on 23 June 2008. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance,
business restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning has held the positions of the chairman of the board and non-
executive director of China Agri since January 2007 and ceased to be the chairman of the board of China Agri since March
2012 but remained as the non-executive director. He was the chairman of the board and executive director of China Foods
since January 2005 and ceased to be the chairman of the board of China Foods since March 2012 but remains as the
executive director. He has been the chairman of the board of COFCO (HK) and Top Glory International Holdings Limited
and a director of Wide Smart since January 2005, and the chairman of the board of COFCO since December 2004. Mr. Ning
has been a non-executive director and chairman of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, an independent director of Hua Yuan Property Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
since October 2008; a director of Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from August
2008 to March 2011; and a non-executive director of Lippo China Resources Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, from December 1998 to August 2009. Mr. Ning has also been a director of BOC International Holdings Limited
since December 2003. He received a bachelor's degree in Economics from Shandong University in 1983, and a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Pittsburgh in 1985.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SHI Wanpeng, aged 75, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Shi was appointed a Director on 23
June 2008. Mr. Shi has over 9 years of experience in the packaging industry and several years of experience in economic
management. Mr. Shi has held the position of chairman of the China Packaging Federation since October 2003. He was
a standing commissioner of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and an
alternate member of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party and he had also served in various government
departments. Mr. Shi has been an independent non-executive director of China South City Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, since September 2009, and an independent director of Huabei Expressway Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2008. From April 2003 to May 2009, he was also an
independent non-executive director of China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
New York Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange. From June 2003 to September 2008,
Mr. Shi was an independent non-executive director of China Telecom Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange and New York Stock Exchange.

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 51, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Cheng was appointed a Director
on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr.
Cheng has over 20 years of experience in auditing, finance and business management. He has been the sole proprietor of
Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong since 1999. Mr. Cheng is currently an executive director of 21
Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director of the following companies which are companies listed on the
Stock Exchange, included CSI Properties Limited (formerly known as Capital Strategic Investment Limited), HKC (Holdings)
Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation, Chong Hing Bank Limited, South China Land Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited,
Imagi International Holdings Limited and Top Spring International Holdings Limited. Mr. Cheng received a bachelor’s degree
in Accounting from the University of Kent, England in 1983 and a master’s degree in Accounting and Finance from the
University of London, England in 1984.

FU Tingmei, aged 45, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fu was appointed a Director on
23 June 2008. Mr. Fu has extensive experiences in investment, finance, law and business management. Between 1992
and 2003, he conducted many corporate finance transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong
including serving as a director of Peregrine Capital Limited, and a deputy managing director and subsequently promoted as
a managing director of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu is currently engaged in private investments business.
He is currently also an independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and Guotai Junan
International Holdings Limited, both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the University of London with a
master's degree and a doctorate degree in Law in 1989 and 1993, respectively.
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YANG Mu ZHANG Ye SHI Yu LV Qing FENG Ping

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SHI Yu, aged 42, is a deputy general manager of the Company, who assists the general manager in the management of the
daily operation, and the one who is in charge of the Department of Operation Management, Audit Control Department and
etc. Mr. Shi joined the Group in November 1992. He has 19 years of experience in the packaging industry. He has been a
deputy general manager of Hangzhou CPMC since July 2011, his role is to assist the general manager in the management
of the daily operation. Mr. Shi received a bachelor’s degree in Scientific English from Tianjin University in 1992.

ZHANG Ye, aged 38, is a deputy general manager and the General Corporate Counsel of the Company. He is in charge
of the beverage can business and the legal affairs of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in July 1995. He has over 16
years of experience in the packaging industry. Since July 2011, he has been a deputy general manager and the General
Corporate Counsel of the Hangzhou CPMC. Mr. Zhang received a bachelor degree in enterprise management from the
School of Adult Continuing Education (currently known as the School of Education) from Fudan University in 1999.

YANG Mu, aged 45, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of the two-piece beverage can
business of the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in November 1994. He has 16 years of financial management experience
in the packaging industry. Since July 2007, he has been an assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC and
the general manager of the finance department of Hangzhou CPMC. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yang was the general
accountant of Guangdong Nanhai Southern Packaging Co., Ltd. and worked in the financial department of Hunan Zhuzhou
Chemical Machinery Factory. Mr. Yang received a degree in Industrial Accounting from Hunan Zhuzhou Metallurgical
Industry Institute in 1989 (now known as Hunan Metallurgical Professional Technology College) and completed a master
program in Economics in the School of Economics of Zhejiang University in 2000. He is a mid-level accountant.

Lv Qing, aged 43, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of the general affairs the Group. Ms. Lv
joined the Group in January 1993. She has nearly 19 years of experience in sales and marketing in the packaging industry.
She has been an assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC since July 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Lv worked in Hangzhou Zhongce Rubber Co., Ltd. Ms. Lv obtained an associate’s degree in Chemical Engineering from
Zhejiang Radio & TV University in 1987, a bachelor’s degree in Business Management from Zhejiang University in 2002, and
a master’s degree in Business Administration from Zhejiang University in March 2011.

FENG Ping, aged 46, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of human resources and
administration of the Group. Ms. Feng joined the Group in October 1997. She has 14 years of experience in the packaging
industry. She has been an assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC and the general manager of the human
resources administrative department of Hangzhou CPMC since July 2007. Ms. Feng obtained a bachelor's degree in
Chemical Engineering from Tsinghua University in 1989, and completed the post-graduate courses in Management Science
and Engineering in Zhejiang University in 2001.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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HUANG Jin GU Xiao Lei CHENG Bincai ZHAO Wei LIU Yeming

CHENG Bincai, aged 47, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of the technical quality and
the production safety. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in June 1993. He has over 25 years of experience in the packaging
industry and has been an assistant to the general manager of Hangzhou CPMC since July 2009. He is the general
manager of technology center since January 2010 and took the post of general manager of the Department of quality and
safety management since May 2011. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheng held various positions including director of the
production planning department, and director of the quality management department of Hangzhou People’s Printing Factory.
Mr. Cheng received a bachelor’'s degree in Fine Chemistry from East China Institute of Chemical Technology (now known as
East China University of Science and Technology) in 1986.

ZHAO Wei, aged 48, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company in charge of plastic container business. Mr.
Zhao joined the Group in May 1997. He has over 14 years of experience in the packaging industry. He was an assistant to
general manager of CPMC since July 2009 and the general manager of plastic container business division since January
2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhao was a technician in the eighth branch company of Xi'an Aeronautical Engine
Company, an engineer in Xi'an Petroleum Exploration Instrument Complex (F% A HEN R E2S48), and chief engineer in
Xi'an Taijing Furniture Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhao received a bachelor’s degree and a master's degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace

Manufacturing Engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical University in 1985 and 1991, respectively.

GU Xiao Lei, aged 46, is an assistant to the general manager of the Company, a general manager (operation) of
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Co., Ltd., and a general manager (operation) of Shenzhen CPMC Co. Ltd. Mr. Gu joined our Group
in 1995. He has 16 years of experience in packaging industry. He has been appointed as an assistant to the general
manager of COFCO since July 2011. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Gu worked for Zhejiang Aviation Society (#f) T &2
2) State-owned No.825 Factory (B%& /\ = F/). Mr. Gu obtained a bachelor's degree in Electronic Instrument Testing from
Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology in 1989.

LIU Yeming, aged 40, is a deputy general manager of the Company in charge of the steel barrels business. Mr. Liu joined
the Group in March 2008. He has over 9 years of management experience in the steel barrels business. Since March 2008,
he has been a deputy general manager of Hangzhou CPMC. Mr. Liu received an associate’s degree in International Trade
from Beijing University of Technology in 1992.

HUANG Jin, aged 44, is a general manager of the investment development department of the Group and in charge of
investor relations. Prior to joining the Company in May 2000, Ms. Huang was the manager of COFCO Industries division (¥
e E %) and a head and department manager of COFCO Beverage & Foodstuffs Imp & Exp Co., Ltd. Ms. Huang obtained
a bachelor’s degree in International Business Administration from the University of International Business and Economics in
June 1989, and completed an in-service postgraduate course in Business Administration from the University of International
Business and Economics in July 2002.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

YIN Xiao Yu YANG Xiao Yan CHAN Fan Shing SU Qi Wei GAO Yu

YANG Xiao Yan, aged 42, is a general manager of the financial department of the Group. Ms. Yang joined the Group in
2002. She has 18 years of experience in financial management. She has served as a general manager of the financial
department of the Group since 2009. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yang held various positions including an accountant of
the financial department of Hangzhou Qing Chun Bao Group and Hangzhou Dahe Thermal-magnetic Electronics, and the
chief of finance section of Hangzhou Tingyi International Food Co., Ltd. Ms. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Statistic
from Hangzhou University in 1993 and completed an in-service postgraduate course in accounting from Hangzhou Dianzi
University in 2005.

CHAN Fan Shing, aged 35, is the company secretary of the Company and the financial controller, responsible for the
financial management of the Company and the consolidation of financial statements of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the
Group in September 2009. He has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Chan was the company secretary, qualified accountant and financial controller of a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan received a bachelor's degree
in Business Accounting from the University of Glamorgan, United Kingdom in 1999 and a master’'s degree in Professional
Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2008.

YIN Xiao Yu, aged 39, is a general manager of the supply chain management department of the Group. Mr. Yin joined the
Group in 2005. He has over 16 years of experience in sales, purchasing and investment. He has been a general manager
of the supply chain management department since January 2009. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yin held various positions
including sales manager, region product manager and a branch general manager of the Goodbaby Group. He obtained
an associate’s degree in accounting from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics and a master's degree in Business
Administration from Zhejiang University in 1994 and 2006, respectively.

SU Qi Wei, aged 39, is a general manager of Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging Co., Ltd.. Mr. Su joined our Group in 1995.
He has 16 years of experience in packaging, engineering technology and management. He obtained a master's degree in
Computer Sciences and Technology from Zhejiang University in 2005.

GAO Yu, aged 44, is a general production manager for the Department of the two-piece cans business of the Group
and a general manager of Hangzhou COFCO Canmaking Co., Ltd. Mr. Gao joined the Group in 1993. He has 18 years
of experience in packaging industry engineering technology and management. He has held various positions including
executive deputy general manager and general manager of Hangzhou COFCO Canmaking Co., Ltd. since 2008. Mr. Gao
obtained a master's degree in Chemical Engineering & Machinery from Zhejiang University in 1993.
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Report of the Directors

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the Company (“Shares”) at the time of its listing on the Stock
Exchange on 16 November 2009 and after the exercise of the over-allotment option on 19 November 2009,
amounted to approximately HK$1,141 million, which are intended to be or have been applied in accordance
with the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 2 November 2009 (the “Prospectus”). As at 31 December 2011 and in line
with the plans as set out in the Prospectus, the proceeds have been used as follows:

(i) approximately RMB361 million have been used for the construction of production facilities in CPMC
(Wuhan) to produce metal and plastic packaging containers;

(i) approximately RMB144 million have been used for expanding the existing production facilities in CPMC
(Chengdu) for the production of beverage cans, food cans and printed and coated tinplates;

(iii) approximately RMB83 million have been used for expanding the existing production facilities in Panyu
MCP for the production of plastic packing containers and printed and coated tinplates as well as for the

construction of logistics facilities and infrastructure;

(iv) approximately RMB120 million have been used for upgrading the existing production facilities of plant and
equipment for energy saving, environmental protection and quality assurance;

(v) approximately RMB96 million have been used for repaying bank loans; and
(vi) approximately RMB77 million have been used for general working capital purposes.

The remaining un-utilised net proceeds is temporarily placed in short-term deposits with licensed banks in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.
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Report of the Directors

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
as of that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 115 to 197. The Directors recommended the
payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.035 (equivalent to HK4.3 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: RMBO0.026, equivalent to HK3.1 cents). The dividend will be reflected as appropriations
of retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2011. An interim dividend of RMB0.033 (equivalent to
HK4 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 14 October 2011 (2010: RMBO0.025, equivalent to HK2.9 cents).

The proposed final dividend of year 2011 will be distributed on or after Thursday, 26 July 2012 to shareholders
whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Thursday, 5 July 2012 (the “Record
Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice on Determination of Tax Resident Enterprises of Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises in accordance with Their De Facto Management Bodies” (@R EANTMh G EKIEEE
EEMEBZEMTAERNCEABMENREA)) (“Notice”), which was issued by the State Administration of
Taxation (the "SAT”) of the People’s Republic of China on 22 April 2009 and became effective on 1 January
2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall
be regarded as resident enterprises with de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered
resident enterprises” (FERAFEME R %), provided that all of the following criteria are present or effected
in China: (1) senior management in charge of daily operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised
departments regarding financial management and human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books,
seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior
management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled
offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax
bureau where the de facto management body of Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based
and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

Pursuant to the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC” (the “Enterprise Income Tax Law”) and the “Detailed
Rules for the Implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC” (the “Implementation Rules”),
both implemented in 2008, and the Notice, since the Company is a Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises, the Company is likely to be regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise and, if so, it could be
required under the Laws of the PRC to withhold and pay Enterprise Income Tax for its non-resident enterprise
shareholders to whom the Company pays the proposed year 2011 final dividend. The withholding and payment
obligation lies with the Company.

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules, the Company is likely to
be required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2011 final dividend to
its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s
register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate
nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or organisations, which are all
considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute the proposed year 2011 final
dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not withhold and pay the income tax
in respect of the proposed year 2011 final dividend payable to any natural person shareholders whose names
appear on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date.

CPMC Holdings Limited




Report of the Directors

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s register of
members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited documents from its
governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay enterprise income tax
in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 June 2012.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees. The Company
will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in
accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and adhere strictly
to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The Company assumes no
liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or inaccurate confirmation of, the
status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

In the event that the Company is not regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise and hence no enterprise
income tax should have been withheld, to the extent that such tax remains in the custody of the Company and
so far as it is able to do so, the Company will procure an amount equal to such tax withheld in respect of the
relevant shareholders to be paid to the relevant shareholders whose tax had been withheld. The Company
would make a further announcement in such event.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 198. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year are
set out in Note 14 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorized or issued share capital during the year.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of
the shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and
key employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any
directors (executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees
of the Group an option to subscribe for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme.
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An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; or
(iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of Offer.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
on the date when the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made
to a substantial shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be
subject to approval of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) in general meeting taken on a poll.

Details of the movements in the share options during the year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:

Number of share options
Name or Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed Date of grant Exercise
category of At during during during during At of share Exercise period price of
participants 01.01.2011  theyear theyear theyear theyear 31122011 options of share options share options
HK$
Directors
Mr. Wang Jinchang - 600,000 - - - 600000 12.10.2011 12.10.2013-11.10.2018 3.04

Mr. Zhang Xin - 500,000 - - - 500,000 12.10.2011 12.10.2013-11.10.2018 3.04

Mr. Hu Yonglei - 300,000 - - - 300000 12.10.2011 12.10.2013-11.10.2018 3.04

Other employees

In aggregate - 6,900,000 - - - 6,900,000 12102011  12.10.2013-11.10.2018 3.04
- 8,300,000 - - - 8,300,000

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended
31 December 2011.

RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to RMB133,000 as at 31 December 2011. In addition, the Company’s
share premium account, in the amount of RMB1,522,349,000 may be distributed in form of fully paid bonus
shares. Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in Note
29(b) to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2011, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
43% of the Group’s total sales. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 50% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2011.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. XUE Guoping (Chairman) (resigned as executive Director and Chairman on 16 January 2011)
Mr. WANG Jinchang (Chairman) (appointed as Chairman on 16 January 2011)

Mr. ZHANG Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. ZHOU Zheng

Mr. HU Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. SHI Wanpeng

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Messrs. Zhang Xin, Ning Gaoning

and Shi Wanpeng will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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Report of the Directors

None of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company on the appointment date.
Commencing on 23 October 2009, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for a term of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of these
service agreements and letters of appointment may be terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which cannot be terminated by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years as required by the Company’s Articles.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent

non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 40 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract or arrangement of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company pursuant to the Company’s Articles with reference
to market conditions, Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors of the Company are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or
their associates has any interest in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”)) which will have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director
or chief executive of the Company is deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Number of underlying Approximate
shares held in long position percentage of
Name of Director Capacity (Note 1) interests
Mr. Wang Jinchang Beneficial owner 600,000 0.07%
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 500,000 0.06%
Mr. Hu Yonglei Beneficial owner 300,000 0.04%
Interests in underlying shares of associated corporation
Number of
underlying shares  Approximate
Name of associated held in long position  percentage of
Name of Director corporations Capacity (Note 1)  interests
Mr. Ning Gaoning China Foods Limited Beneficial owner 1,620,000 0.06% (Note 2)
Mr. Ning Gaoning China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 1,300,000 0.03% (Note 3)
Mr. Hu Yonglei China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 500,000 0.01% (Note 3)
Notes:

(1) Long position in the underlying shares of the relevant company under share options granted pursuant to the share
option scheme of the relevant company.

(2) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Foods Limited in issue as at 31 December
2011, i.e. 2,792,891,756 shares.

(3) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited in issue as
at 31 December 2011, i.e. 4,038,369,839 shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or as recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

percentage
of aggregate
Capacity and Number of interests in issued
Substantial shareholders Notes nature of interest shares held share capital *
Wide Smart Holdings Limited (1) & (2) Registered owner 599,999,940 72.29%
(“Wide Smart”)
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (1) Registered owner 60 0%
("COFCO (HK)") (1) &(2) Beneficial owner 600,000,000 72.29%
COFCO Corporation (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 600,000,000 72.29%
(“COFCQ”) corporations
Notes:

(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company.

(2) Wide Smart is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). Wide Smart acts as a nominee shareholder holding
599,999,940 shares in trust for COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore the beneficial owner of the 599,999,940 shares
held by Wide Smart.

(8) COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in
the 600,000,000 shares in aggregate held by COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart.

The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2011,
i.e., 830,000,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests
required kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the EEEL R A

Company has maintained sufficient public float since the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 16
November 2009.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing rules. These transactions are considered to be continuing

connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance with the CORPORATE
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions are as GOVEF;(NE%%
follows: DEBARE

1. On 27 June 2008 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13
October 2010, CPMC (Hong Kong) Limited (“CPMC (HK)”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”) supply agreement with
China Agri (the “China Agri Supply Agreement”), an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation (“COFCQO”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of CPMC (HK) will supply steel barrels to the
subsidiaries of China Agri according to the latter’s specifications and at prevailing market prices for a

term of three years commencing on 27 June 2008. The China Agri Supply Agreement may be renewed DIRECTORS AND
by agreement between the parties. Details of the China Agri Supply Agreement were disclosed in the MANAGSEE&‘E'ﬂ
section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the PROFILE
announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010. . if&?i&

ERABEN

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the steel barrels to be supplied to the subsidiaries of
China Agri in 2011 would not exceed RMB12,639,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the steel barrels supplied to the
subsidiaries of China Agri under the China Agri Supply Agreement was approximately RMB4,712,773.

REPORT OF THE

2. On 28 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13 D'gg;g;é

October 2010, CPMC (HK) entered into the Northsea supply agreement (the “Northsea Supply Agreement”)
with COFCO Northsea Oils & Grains Industries (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Northsea”), an associate of China Agri,
pursuant to which the subsidiaries of CPMC (HK) will supply steel barrels to Northsea according to the
latter’'s specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 28 October
2009. The Northsea Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of
the Northsea Supply Agreement were disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the
Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October
2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the steel barrels to be supplied to Northsea in 2011
would not exceed RMB10,500,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the steel barrels supplied to Northsea
under the Northsea Supply Agreement was approximately RMB7,043,514.

Annual Report 2011 49




Report of the Directors S5 2008

3. On 28 November 2008 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties

mg@@%@mhp on 13 October 2010, the Group entered into the China Foods supply agreement (the “China Foods Supply

ANALYSES Agreement”) with China Foods Limited (“China Foods”), whereby, among other things, the subsidiaries of

SRR the Company will supply miscellaneous cans to the subsidiaries of China Foods according to the latter’s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2009.
The China Foods Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the
China Foods Supply Agreement were disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the
Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October
2010.

CORPORATE The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the miscellaneous cans to be supplied to the

GOVERNANGCE subsidiaries of China Foods in 2011 would not exceed RMB7,800,000.

REPORT

ANEEESOAED A
FREAEE For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the miscellaneous cans supplied to the

subsidiaries of China Foods under the China Foods Supply Agreement was approximately RMB6,681,852.

4. Pursuant to the China Foods Supply Agreement, the subsidiaries of the Company will supply, among other
things, crown caps to the various Coca-Cola beverage bottlers of China Foods according to the latter’s
specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2009 and
as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13 October 2010. Details of

DIRECTORS AND the China Foods Supply Agreement were disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the

SENIOR Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October
MANAGEMENT 2010.

PROFILE

EE ) .

EEABEHN The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the crown caps to be supplied to the Coca-Cola

beverage bottlers of China Foods in 2011 would not exceed RMB5,850,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the crown caps supplied to the Coca-
Cola beverage bottlers of China Foods under the China Foods Supply Agreement was approximately
RMB2,887,916.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS 5. On 28 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on

EE-f 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the Tunhe supply agreement (the “Tunhe Supply Agreement”)
with COFCO Tunhe Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Tunhe”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company will
supply general food cans to COFCO Tunhe and its subsidiaries (“COFCO Tunhe Group”) according to the
latter’s specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 28 October
2009. The Tunhe Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the
Tunhe Supply Agreement were disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company'’s
Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the general food cans to be supplied to COFCO Tunhe
Group in 2011 would not exceed RMB40,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the general foods cans supplied to COFCO
Tunhe Group under the Tunhe Supply Agreement was approximately RMB9,321,815.
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Report of the Directors

On 23 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on
13 October 2010, we entered into the Caoxian supply agreement (the “Caoxian Supply Agreement”) with
Caoxian COFCO Dabao Food Industry Co., Ltd. (“Caoxian COFCQ”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries
of the Company will supply twist caps to Caoxian COFCO according to the latter's specifications and at
prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 23 October 2009. The Caoxian Supply
Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the Caoxian Supply Agreement
were disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated 2
November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the twist caps to be supplied to Caoxian COFCO in
2011 would not exceed RMB3,125,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the twist caps cans supplied to Caoxian
COFCO under the Caoxian Supply Agreement was approximately RMB771,705.

On 23 October 2009 and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties
on 13 October 2010, we entered into the Yongji supply agreement (the “Yongji Supply Agreement”) with
Yongji COFCO Dabao Food Industry Co. Ltd. (“Yongji COFCQ”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the
Company will supply twist caps to Yongji COFCO according to the latter’'s specifications and at prevailing
market prices for a term of three years commencing on 23 October 2009. The Yongji Supply Agreement
may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the Yongji Supply Agreement were
disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s Prospectus dated 2 November
2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the twist caps to be supplied to Yongji COFCO in 2011
would not exceed RMB1,800,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the twist caps cans supplied to Yongji
COFCO under the Yongji Supply Agreement was approximately RMB818,154.
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Report of the Directors

8. Pursuant to the China Agri Supply Agreement, the subsidiaries of CPMC (HK) will supply rectangular cans

mg@@%@mhp to East Ocean Qils & Grains Industries (Zhangjiagang) Co. Ltd. (“East Ocean”), according to the latter’s
ANALYSES specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 27 June 2008
SRR and as supplemented and amended by another agreement between the parties on 13 October 2010. The
China Agri Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the China
Agri Supply Agreement were disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction” in the Company’s
Prospectus dated 2 November 2009 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.
The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the rectangular cans to be supplied to East Ocean in
2011 would not exceed RMB2,250,000.
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the rectangular cans supplied to East
REPORT Ocean under the China Agri Supply Agreement was approximately RMB1,024,781.

LETARE

9. On 21 September 2010, the Company and COFCO Finance Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO, entered into the Financial Services Agreement. Details of the
Financial Services Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 21 September
2010.

Pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group the

DIRECTORS AND following financial services for a term of three (3) years commencing on 1 November 2010, the date on

SENIOR which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:
MANAGEMENT

%R%‘ZL%E%& (a) Deposit services

EBABMN

The maximum daily RMB deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance shall not exceed RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual cap
were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services
REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS
EE-f COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to

which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees in connection
with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including settlement services,
forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be provided by COFCO
Finance to the Group under the Financial Services Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge handling
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other financial services for a maximum
annual cap not exceeding RMB5 million. The above entrustment loan services and the other financial
services were only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the maximum daily RMB deposit amounted to
RMB284,779,400, COFCO Finance provided loans of RMB100,000,000 and there was no transaction
of the entrustment loan services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO
Finance under the Financial Services Agreement.
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10.

11.

Report of the Directors

On 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the New China Foods Supply Agreement (the “New
China Foods Supply Agreement “) with China Foods, pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company
will supply two-piece beverage cans, other packaging materials and products (other than miscellaneous
cans and crown caps) and ancillary parts to the subsidiaries of China Foods according to the latter’s
specifications and prevailing market prices for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011.
The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2010 was subsequently revised from RMB5,000,000 to
RMB15,000,000 because of the increase in demand for the two-piece beverage cans. The New China
Foods Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the New China
Foods Supply Agreement were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 13 October 2010
and 8 December 2010 respectively.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the two-piece beverage cans, other packaging
materials and products (other than miscellaneous cans and crown caps) and ancillary parts to be supplied
to China Foods in 2011 would not exceed RMB50,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the two-piece beverage cans, other
packaging materials and products (other than miscellaneous cans and crown caps) and ancillary
parts supplied to the subsidiaries of China Foods under the New China Foods Supply Agreement was
approximately RMB49,686,117.

On 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the Fujian Tea Supply Agreement (the” Fujian Tea Supply
Agreement”) with Fujian Tea Imports and Exports Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Tea Company”), pursuant to which the
subsidiaries of the Company will supply miscellaneous cans, other packaging materials and products and
ancillary parts to the Fujian Tea Company according to the latter's specifications and prevailing market
prices for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The Fujian Tea Supply Agreement may
be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the Fujian Tea Supply Agreement were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the miscellaneous cans, other packaging materials
and products and ancillary parts to be supplied to Fujian Tea Company in 2011 would not exceed

RMB3,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, there was no transaction between the Company and Fujian Tea
Company under the Fujian Tea Supply Agreement.
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Report of the Directors S5 2008

12. On 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the COFCO Innovative Foods Supply Agreement (the

mg@@%@mhp “COFCO Innovative Foods Supply Agreement”) with COFCO Innovative Foods (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“COFCO
ANALYSES Innovative Foods”), pursuant to which the subsidiaries of the Company will supply twist caps, other
SRR packaging materials and products and ancillary parts to COFCO Innovative Foods according to the latter’s
specifications and prevailing market prices for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The
COFCO Innovative Foods Supply Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties. Details
of the COFCO Innovative Foods Supply Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 13 October 2010.
The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the twist caps, other packaging materials and products
CORPORATE and ancillary parts to be supplied to COFCO Innovative Foods in 2011 would not exceed RMB7,200,000.
GOVERNANCE
REPORT For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the twist caps, other packaging materials

LETARE

and products and ancillary parts supplied to the COFCO Innovative Foods under the COFCO Innovative
Foods Supply Agreement was approximately RMB155,596.

13. On 13 October 2010, the Company entered into the COFCO Tech Supply Agreement (the “COFCO Tech
Supply Agreement”) with COFCO Tech Bioengineering (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“COFCO Tech”), pursuant to
which the subsidiaries of the Company will supply steel barrels, other packaging materials and products
and ancillary parts to COFCO Tech according to the latter's specifications and prevailing market prices

DIRECTORS AND for the period from 13 October 2010 to 31 December 2011. The COFCO Tech Supply Agreement may be

SENIOR renewed by agreement between the parties. Details of the COFCO Tech Supply Agreement were disclosed
'llﬂFf\(’)\lFﬁ‘\EEEMENT in the announcement of the Company dated 13 October 2010.
EBASHN The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the steel barrels, other packaging materials and

products and ancillary parts to be supplied to COFCO Tech in 2011 would not exceed RMB3,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the aggregate value of the steel barrels, other packaging
materials and products and ancillary parts to be supplied to COFCO Tech under the COFCO Tech Supply
Agreement was approximately RMB61,060.

REPORT OF THE ) .
DIRECTORS 14. On 8 November 2011, we entered into the framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with

EE-f COFCO, pursuant to which the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) will supply a provision
of various types and sizes of packaging materials, products and related services (“Products and
Related Services”) to COFCO and its subsidiaries and associates other than the Group (“COFCO
Group”) according to the latter’s specifications and at prevailing market prices for a term of three years
commencing on 1 January 2012. The Framework Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the
parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing
Rules. Details of the Framework Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8
November 2011. The approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 16 December 2011.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be supplied
to COFCO Group in 2012, 2013 and 2014 would not exceed RMB460,000,000, RMB720,000,000 and
RMB1,100,000,000 respectively.
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Report of the Directors

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 14 for the year ended 31 December 2011 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties, and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 35 to the audited financial statements also constituted

connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules which are
required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

No Directors are considered to have interests in any business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2011.
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Report of the Directors

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2011.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Thursday, 7 June 2012 (“2012 AGM”).
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2012 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2012
Closure of Register of members 31 May to 7 June 2012 (both dates inclusive)
Record date 7 June 2012

For determining Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 27 June 2012
Closure of Register of members 28 June to 5 July 2012 (both dates inclusive)
Record date 5 July 2012

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the forthcoming annual general meeting,
shareholders should contact our Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as
transfer of shares, change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2012

CPMC Holdings Limited
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To the shareholders of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CPMC
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 197, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Independent Auditors’ Report
B 2B
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Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22nd Floor, CITIC Tower
1 Tin Mei Avenue, Central

Hong Kong

26 March 2012
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3% 2:58%  Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended 31 December 2011
HE201MF12A31BILFE

meEWmT

2011 2010 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 S
Mzt ARET AREBTFT B BERE
REVENUE WA 5 4,342,277 3,416,691
Cost of sales SHEMKA 6 (3,647,944) (2,890,984)
Gross profit e 694,333 525,707
Other income and gains — net HALWA R Mzs — 558 5 42,173 67,192
Selling and marketing expenses 5% K& & {55 A (181,191) (140,959) TR
Administrative expenses THER (206,946) (159,040) INCOME
Finance costs — net MSER — $8 7 14,646 (6,699) ST;E';;N%
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX  BRFT/S%: 51 Al H 6 363,015 286,201
Income tax expense FRiSHi 10 (77,222) (67,882)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFE 285,793 218,319
Attributable to: FEMh -
Equity holders of the Company RABRAFZFE A 11 280,298 212,273
Non-controlling interests eI 5,495 6,046
CONSOLIDATED
285,793 218,319 STATEMENT OF
N COMPREHENSIVE
EARNINGS PER SHARE RATEBER INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BRAEZEA BASERAR
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS (L &R EF
OF THE COMPANY 13
Basic and diluted EXRREE RMBO0.34 RMBO0.26
Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are FE MR B MR BB %R
disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements. RMIFE12 EITHEE - CONSST%'ED,\//?EER
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
BABTRTAE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BAEREDE
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
GEEEWRAR s

INDEPENDENT 2011 2010
QEF[’)!)TR%RS Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B BT HiaF ARBT T ARBTFT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND FEERF
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REEHERA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 285,793 218,319
Attributable to: FEfL -
Equity holders of the Company PiN/NG L # SV SN 11 280,298 212,273
Non-controlling interests AR 5,495 6,046
CONSOLIDATED 285,793 218,319
INCOME
STATEMENT
RakER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
HAZERAR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FAMBRRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
N
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~.=< #Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
; As at 31 December 2011 zaﬁl_ PaN EZI- i&;lﬁ S '15’%
20114124318 N B Vi /R
2011 2010 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 o
HiaE ARBTT ARBFTT BUBHMES
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B MRE 14 1,828,644 1,605,411
Land use rights T A 15 131,224 109,158
Deposits for purchase of items of BEEWE - HEN&
property, plant and equipment BENZS 262,723 12,665
Goodwill kS 16 103,295 59,753
Other intangible assets HihmpEE 17 5,685 6,264
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 26 11,034 12,352 CONSO}IL%L}JTI\EI[E)
Prepayments, deposits and B Bek STATEMENT
other receivables Hofh U R 21 1,849 61,349 el
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 2,344,454 1,866,952
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories 78 19 869,386 605,366
Trade and bills receivables B S RGBT 20 609,484 635,885
Prepayments, deposits and B Bek
other receivables Hofh U R 21 522,119 315,610
Pledged deposits [REEEREE N 22 65,326 47,281 CONSOLIDATED
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 22 1,611,816 481,172 COS’\;/;LEE'\SE%SE
Total current assets BRENEE 3,678,131 2,085,314 INCOME
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE SRR
Trade and bills payables B SN R = 23 855,796 691,379
Other payables and accruals HEMENZ L ESTTEER 24 294,765 255,300
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREMER
other borrowings 25 368,946 520,318
Tax payable FESIF IR 27,623 27,171
Total current liabilities BREPAR 1,547,130 1,494,168 TR
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEE 2,131,001 591,146 (ELETE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EEMAEAE POSITION
LIABILITIES 4,475,455 2,458,098 REMBRRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
RaRnEHx
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25—1‘% EZI';]’%%)‘R;E As at 31 December 2011
n 7

20114128318

L N w1 L N w1 L N w1 L N

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position .5 %, % "5 7,08 S0 900 Sos

INDEPENDENT 2011 2010
oo Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bunaigs BiaE ARBT T AREFIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #@&ERREE S
LIABILITIES 4,475,455 2,458,098
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBARG
Interest-bearing bank borrowings i EIRITER 25 1,822,050 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTSHAE 26 4,620 4,453
Government grants BRAT 438G 9,315 9,522
CONSOLIDATED Other payables S ANE 24 - 40,000
INCOME Finance lease payables MEFHEREN 1,105 2,973
STATEMENT
BARE Total non-current liabilities RIERBAE 1,837,090 56,948
Net assets FEE 2,638,365 2,401,150
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to equity holder ZANAGIIEAIEAG A
of the Company FEfL HE R
Issued capital BT 27 73,080 73,080
Reserves i 29(a) 2,452,183 2,227,933
Proposed final dividend ¥R R HIRZ B 12 29,050 21,580
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF 2,554,313 2,322,593
&%%REEHENSIVE Non-controlling interests IR 2 84,052 78,557
EAREMAR Total equity B 2,638,365 2,401,150

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
RAFBRRE

WANG JINCHANG ZHANG XIN
&8 R
Director Director

BEE EF

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BAREEDR
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A =Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equ'ty
A Aifgﬁ SEIR

Attributable to equity holders of the Company INDEPENDENT
RRARKSEAES AUDITORS
REPORT
Employee B G
Share-based Non-
Issued  compensation Capital ~ Statutory ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital feServe  reServes  reserves profits  dividend Total interests equity
DY U]

BRBF ERMEGR  KRBRE  IERRE BRAR RRER Aif FEREE 28
Noles ~ RMBOOO ~ RMB'00  RMB00D RMB000  RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB0O0  RMB'000
ME  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR ARWTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

As at 1 January 2010 H2010E1 718 73,080 - 176749 18,836 271,790 29375 2,160,580 72511 2,233,091
Total comprehensive income  FE 2 AN #1EE CONSOLIDATED
for the year - - - - mm - o1m 6046 218319 INCOME
2009 final dividend declared  EER000F KRS 12 - - - - - (29375)  (29375) = (29.375) STATEMENT
2010 inerim dividend DI0EHERE 1 - = - - (088) - 088 - (08%) AKREE
Proposed 2010 final dividend  #FR010FREHRE 12 - = = = (21,580) 21580 = = -
Aopropriation to the PRELE
statutory reserves Fefes - - - 10,828 (10,828) - - - -
As at 31 December 2010 and 142010125318
1 January 2011 R011E1A18 73,080 - 1,767,499 29,664 430,770 21580 2,322,593 78557 2,401,150
Total comprehensive income £ 2 BN EE
for the year - - - - 260,298 - 280,298 5,495 265,793
2010 finel dvidend declared 2010 RHRE 2 - - - - - (1580 (21580) - (21580
2011 interim dividend N115PHRS 12 - - - - (27390) - (27,390) - (27390) CONSOLIDATED
Proposed 2011 final dividend  ¥ER011ERBRE 12 - - - - (29,050) 29,050 - - - STATEMENT OF
Equity-settled share option RS EBREL COMPREHENSIVE
arangements 28 - 392 - - - - 392 - 392 A INCOME
Appropriation fo the statutory  HEZZTEHE SAZERAR
reserves - - - 10,130 (10,130) - - - -
As at 31 December 2011 2011128318 73,080 392" 1,767499* 39,794* 644,498 29050 2,554,313 84,052 2,638,365
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of Y REFERB B S I BERER T
RMB2,452,183,000 (2010: RMB2,227,933,000) in the consolidated AR A B A K 2 452 183,000t (2010
statement of financial position. F : ARM2227,933,0005T) °
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
GEMBHRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
FAREEBR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=V AN E :2: = Year ended 31 December 2011
172 N = M7 J)ILER BE2011F12A318 L5E

2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARBTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM REFPEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HERE
Profit before tax: FrAERIFE 363,015 286,201
Adjustments for: FHE
Finance costs B E 7 31,150 17,532
Interest income FEUA 7 (22,651) (4,140)
Write-back of other payables H b jE A~ ZBE [l 5 (283) (14,618)
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE - BEKR
property, plant and equipment HEETR 5 2,449 252
Depreciation e 6 117,846 96,109
Recognition of land use rights T Hb(E A 2 FERR 6 3,108 2,605
Amortisation of other EAfthfE & =Y
intangible assets 6 1,264 1,242
Impairment of trade receivables & 3 U
and other receivables H A EUGRRE 6 864 7,119
Reversal of provision against FERERR
inventories 6 (625) (1,688)
Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 Y e F R 7 (26,011) (9,768)
Equity-settled share option expense xS A5 E EARER X 6 392 -
470,518 380,846
Increase in inventories FEEM (263,395) (129,485)
Decrease/(Increase) in B oRKF RERRERL
trade and bills receivables (3&h0) 26,439 (143,251)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TE{T5K « &4 R E ity
and other receivables FEW TR 2 15 AN (207,412) (136,364)
Decrease in pledged deposits BT 22,141 73,864
Increase in trade and =) AN
bills payables FERT RIEIE AN 164,417 138,607
Increase/(decrease) in other H b S 3 %
payables and accruals FEstEIE I CFid) 2,328 (5,278)
Decrease in government grants BT BL L (207) (7)
Cash generated from operations  &KEEL 7S 214,829 178,932
Interest paid EEREAES (35,977) (17,532)
Mainland China tax paid B AR BRI (70,905) (38,030)
Net cash flows from K TRENEE
operating activities ZIREFEE 107,947 123,370

CPMC Holdings Limited A ig 8 245 G R A ]



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

s e ) GARSHAR
2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mzt ARBT R AREBTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM REREETHZ

INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEeERE
Interest received BUIF S 22,651 4,140
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BB

plant and equipment & (595,328) (334,938)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HE&EWZE  FE L&kE

property, plant and equipment FriS5/38 11,364 3,863
Decrease/(increase) in AR - e REAM

prepayments, deposits FEMGR 2R (&)

and other receivables 59,500 (59,056)
Additions to prepaid land use rights &/t -+ #b {8 FE#E$E 0 15 (770) (15,892)
Additions to other intangible assets E i F2 & ZE= 12N 17 (685) (562)
Acquisition of a subsidiary BA—THHBAR 30 (119,886) (54,386)
Net cash flows used in WERSFERZ

investing activities e MIFRE (623,154) (456,831)
CASH FLOWS FROM METEELEN

FINANCING ACTIVITIES HERE
New bank loans FTERITE K 2,503,885 789,935
Other loans from COFCO REHEVBERAEE

Finance Corporation Limited ~al ([HEFH])

(“COFCO Finance”) EAMER 100,000 -
Repayment of bank loans EBRITER (889,207) (952,222)
Repayment of other loans from BB ieig

COFCO Finance EAMER (44,000) -
Dividends paid BEIRE (48,970) (50,260)
Long-term payable paid B REAEMAR (1,868) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEEBEL (ER) 2

financing activities WEMmFRE 1,619,840 (212,547)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) RERBFESEEY

IN CASH AND CASH ®m () B8

EQUIVALENTS 1,104,633 (546,008)
Cash and cash equivalents at FR e MRS

beginning of year EEY 481,172 1,017,412
Effect of foreign exchange rate b = B 2 F R

changes, net 26,011 9,768
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS £#XRERALEEY

AT END OF YEAR 1,611,816 481,172
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF HR&RBEEZEY

CASH AND CASH EERD T

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R & RIRTTEERR 22 1,611,816 481,172
Cash and cash equivalents REMER

as stated in the statement iz e &

of cash flows REeEEY 1,611,816 481,172
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Statement of Financial Position

E A} \‘ 31 December 2011 - -
N i / 20114F12H318
2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR¥T AREEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HE k&G 14 234 364
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR E 18 2,604,557 1,916,160
Total non-current assets BWIERBEE 2,604,791 1,916,524
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from a subsidiary FE U —FEIFT B A Bl SRR 161,542 102,504
Prepayments, deposits and BR®R  Emek
other receivables H b fE U R 21 5,999 804
Cash and cash equivalents e RIBESEEY 22 803,267 7,258
Total current assets BRENE E 970,808 110,566
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Other payables and accruals Hip AR R EETIEE 24 23,191 7,957
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t S R1TE R 25 189,704 418,147
Total current liabilities ‘REaE 212,895 426,104
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ RBEE
(LIABILITIES) (afE) 28 757,913 (315,538)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT &A&ERRE &G
LIABILITIES 3,362,704 1,600,986
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings =S R1TE R 25 1,822,050 =
Total non-current liabilities BIERIDEE 1,822,050 =
Net assets FEE 1,540,654 1,600,986
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITIRAR 27 73,080 73,080
Reserves ] 29(b) 1,438,524 1,506,326
Proposed final dividend BURREANR S 12 29,050 21,580
Total equity RS 1,540,654 1,600,986
WANG JINCHANG ZHANG XIN
T£5 RE
Director Director
EE EFE
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Corporate Information

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing
of packaging products including beverage cans, food
cans, aerosol cans, metal caps, printed and coated
tinplates, steel barrels and plastic packaging in Mainland
China.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong)
Limited (“COFCO (HK)”), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong. In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is COFCO Corporation
("COFCQ”), which is a state-owned enterprise registered in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”), which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2011. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period
as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation
in full.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results
in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosure

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment  Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative
HKFRS 7 Disclosures for
First-time Adopters

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 32 Amendment  Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation -
Classification of Rights Issues
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments

Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosure
(continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 1
and HKAS 27 included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2010,
the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as
follows:

(a)

(b)

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the
definitions of related parties. The new definitions
emphasise a symmetrical view of related party
relationships and clarify the circumstances in which
persons and key management personnel affect related
party relationships of an entity. The revised standard
also introduces an exemption from the general related
party disclosure requirements for transactions with
a government and entities that are controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the same
government as the reporting entity. The accounting
policy for related parties has been revised to reflect
the changes in the definitions of related parties under
the revised standard. The adoption of the revised
standard did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group. Details of
the related party transactions, including the related
comparative information, are included in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments may
result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.
Details of the key amendments most applicable to the
Group are as follows:
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosure
(continued)

(b) (continued)

e HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The
amendment clarifies that the amendments to
HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that eliminate
the exemption for contingent consideration do not
apply to contingent consideration that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition dates
precede the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised
in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the scope
of measurement choices for non-controlling
interests. Only the components of non-controlling
interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or at
the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by
another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced
and voluntarily replaced share-based payment
awards.

e HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that an analysis of
each component of other comprehensive
income can be presented either in the
statement of changes in equity or in the notes
to the financial statements. The Group elects
to present the analysis of each component of
other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

e HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28
and HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
or earlier if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.
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22 ERfBRRRKRE22S (H)

(b)

(#&)

BRMBREEANEIREH
At BFTHMABREMERE
ERIE7H - BEGERF
324k &k & & & &t % A 55395
ZIERTFBBRE AR EN TR
% X TNERARKBELMB
¥ & 4 A E35% (720084 £
E5]) BIFETHRB A HE
HEHSARRE -

BESN - B ETRR Bl SR 4R AR A R A
S BEENGE - RBRRE
WP AR TESE A
BRI B 2 15 Wi 7
BB R SRR B R A A K
3> A AR E AR B H)
FrE T RIm L BI1E5 BUR B
TR RFEERE © FRIFHR
1t &8 B 7 5 R AR TE A IR
FREMFEREE - TRISHER
PR R PT A B A 1715 A
HEBE RO A FESE -

ERT RN ABASCHE 5| - LARE AR
FERLARAN B FEER BV A B0 &%
AR REBOETRIES
% o

EREQEUNFIRTHFH A
a7 221 : EFT M E b 2w
ABRDE DT A R
KA BHRERM TR - K&
BEREGAEDREHRET
His 2 EWRAZRDODHT

BB ERIF 27 A & MHE
TVHB#HE  EFHARAES
AHERI 275 (1R20085 & &
Al HEAB ST ERIFE215
R ERIF28RLELE
SHERIEIRAMEL R EE
FIZAME20094F7 A1R 2 1% 5
N FERREARERTE
REEGTERFE27TRIRRE
A o



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 E\ji’%ﬁ%‘%m{t%}

2011412 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 23 EMBEHRERZERMY
Financial Reporting Standards 5%*&%‘—’%&'] T
CASH FLOWS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time

Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters'

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial

Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets'

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 12 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

HKAS 32 Amendments

Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements*
Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities*
Fair Value Measurement*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income
Taxes — Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets?

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures*

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine*

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities ®

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2013

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2014

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2015
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. The Group considers that these new and
revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on
the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly
or indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or
issued share capital or controls the composition of its board
of directors; or over which the Company has a contractual
right to exercise a dominant influence with respect to that
entity’s financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company'’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates
as a separate entity in which the Group and the other
parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’'s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group, directly or indirectly,
controls more than half of its voting power or issued
share capital or controls the composition of its board
of directors; or over which the Company has a
contractual right to exercise a dominant influence with
respect to the joint venture’s financial and operating
policies;
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or
joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally
not less than 20% of the joint venture’s issued share

31 December 2011 E\ja’%ﬁ% M;J—%I

2011412 H31H
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(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture’s issued share capital
and has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to
exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations not under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling
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of net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are expensed
as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivative in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will
be recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will
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consideration does not fall within the scope of HKAS 39, it
is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
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testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

CPMC Holdings Limited figf 5k B R AR

ETRENR AXRBEHMEBA
MEEEBAZBERSEEBEHA
REHEENH R B ST EDNHA
SESEERSELBURTERS
EEEMN MERAREHMEE
SRERBENETREFEMKZ
AE

METRAFHERAEEHEANRS
ELBU (—HARSELEM &
AESHREE BERSELEN
(—HARSELEM) WA KOS ER
ERERE SRR - MEBEETIA
BR-EmERIANBEBET
BRARKAEED -



2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
goodwill), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into
account its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Machineries and equipment 12 to 20 years
Vehicles 5 years
Electronic equipment, office equipment

and fixtures 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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o 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHEEHE ()
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FARERER

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machineries and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
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when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
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indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.
The amount is amortised over the estimated useful life of 5
years.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are account for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic
rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from
the lessor are charged to the income statement on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Land use rights under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank
balances and trade and other receivables.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 TEEHHEREE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
FARSRER Investments and other financial assets (continued) RERHMhEMEE (8)
Subsequent measurement wEE
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets ER R EBGRIEH B E T EE
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted NH&E&E  WEELERTIS®R
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets BRETESREE - RYITEHE
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using % ZEEEHBUEERREXR
the effective interest rate method less any allowance BN AR EMRERETE - #
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking SRR R E R E AT E SR
SEA;EN“QE"SAL into account any discount or premium on acquisition B WEIEEAKERFE 58
POSITION and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of EBRSKAE - ERANEXNBEHORE
BT hRE the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate R EREBERA—IERA - BE
amortisation is included in finance income in the income EXNBEBERKZEROBERAN
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised (BERURE) REM X (BKEUR
in the income statement in finance costs for loan and in B) NFER -
other expense for receivables.
Derecognition of financial assets RIFBIATMEE
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial CRMEE (iWER - —HaHE
NOTES TO THE asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is EN—Hok—HRAEeHEEN
FINANCIAL derecognised when: — ) ETHIERT 1S TR IERE
STATEMENTS o
e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have s HEEWHMRESREMENE
expired; or [ 5 2k
e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash s XREEBEPHEZHEEEWDRRS®
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to MERERN  KERE -8
pay the received cash flows in full without material (881 ] REEAERME RS
delay to a third party under a “pass-through” RNERIBERT  HABHEESM
IE:\I\II/E\I\\J{CEC\FE arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred EEENTE=ZR REAEH
SUMMARY substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, (B EEEEMNB A » Bk
AEHBHE or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained R+ s(b)Ik £ 88 = 5k R B
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but BEMBARNID R K E R -
has transferred control of the asset. BEEEEENZEGE
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash EASEEEEREG —HEERR
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through RemEeWBEMNNEFTLEH N L
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has e EAEERGENRBEERSE
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. R EEREREREE - EH
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all WARBEBRIRBEENBAITHER
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control BR[O EBR EERNZEGIE - &
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the EERAEEFEL2HEEENEE
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, R EUBERT » NEBTER
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The HERE EEENEEREHEA
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured BENEREASB(REBHENRE
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the EELEE -
Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee NERFAEBELHEEREEER
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the BE - DRZEENREREEBERK
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum SEAHERERENRESZSSHE
amount of consideration that the Group could be required MEPHREETE ©
to repay.
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o - w i - & N - EN T L T
‘N % i SRS i T N ML “ I LR

Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
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financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
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includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar DRETGFARE AZEEAES FINANCIAL
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them BA-—HEAEFHEUEERRSIED ﬂ;gﬁ%g

MAT A2

for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.
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o 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHEEHE ()
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the

use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss mEgd mMEESERN KD RE
is recognised in the income statement. Interest income oo MEBWARIR A 1% BREE T

BEL BRAFERERBERA
MR AR KRR S RENOFN R RET -

continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount

T the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the EBEBRKEATERRABEEITR
OF FINANCIAL impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with EERNEETAEE  AMBE
POSITION

any associated allowance are written off when there is no TR N2 FE MR IR 32 R E fRT AR R B4
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has

been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

B R

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated fi 5 £ H & BRI (e R EE B E
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an AR RIRIE 2 18 53 £ 0 B IEIE N
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the o - RIE R RERERIG N
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or B SR HERR AR B BT 1B o MR E
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future f& Y B R 2R MUE - I E A 5T A

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the a3k ©
STATEMENTS income statement.

Financial liabilities cRIAE

Initial recognition and measurement LR REE

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial

RS ERIFEIR PP RO TR
BEEN /ABRATFEFABRENS
BEE BEXREE BN KE
EEBMERNE R TANITET
A (ER) - ARER TS HERE

FIVE-YEAR \ i y
FINANGIAL liabilities at initial recognition. ETEsmABEN A -
SUMMARY

RFEHMBHE
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All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value plus, in the case of loans and borrowings, directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation

process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in the income statement.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long
positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques
include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow
analysis or other valuation models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 E\j-i%i&%l}ﬁ-%}

2011412 H31H

24 TESHBERE (F)

Frgst (&)
BRIEMRIAEETIFATA A TR
ZF APARBERERRRBAKR
HEBRNEEMER - BERRE
7E LA 15 8 & SR A5 )R DA B A AT 4 A
EREZ8  APARBELEARD
ABEEENEEAESEERR
HETFIIBE SR -

s HAMMEREZHEABNELT
MBAEETRE AL IEEH
BHNXZPIREREEX
BEMEL YRR ZFEILF
FESFNERERTEAE K
B R

e BMERMBARKEARRMNA
HIHMEREZEMS - BEHREA
BEERERZHENA R
B ] BE B B DA K 5 B e AR AR A
A B B R R IAE S S
BRT - 5 THER -

REBEHRRBNELCHEEEDN
FREE - WETHERIERRHER
T8 B A B A 2 BB s BB 0 IR RE A IR
BER - HEMBZEKREE - KK
ERNELCHEAEEER SREH
REFHFE - LERTER BHER
758 70 B A Mo 20 22 B =k AR 0 MR RE 7R IR
BER T AR -

EERAEENBENZBARER
REREENFERBEHAMON
T RENHENRERMRER
LEBEMOBE (RFE) FHE -

EXHBREEN RREEH AR EY
i BLAFERFANSMNESR
EHHENMB AR BN GIERTT
A MECHBBER —RHE
BLR-—MBEEREH -

Annual Report 2011 —ZF——FF

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FARERER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
B R

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
AFPHHE

141



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FARERER

Notes to Financial Statements  *5,:. & 2,/ ¢ %3
B & $R R MfsF 31 December 2011

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
B R

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HFFHHR

142

2011412H31H

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the income statement over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the income statement by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in Note 28 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Employee benefits

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
each of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required
to participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised
by the local municipal government whereby the Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of
the salaries of its employee to the retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to pay the ongoing
required contributions. Contributions made to the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged to the
consolidated income statement as incurred.

Pension Scheme

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

When funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. All differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. The gain or
loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Renminbi. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period and their income statements are
translated into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in retained profits. On disposal of a foreign
operation the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to be
retained by the relevant subsidiaries. As at 31 December
2011, the deferred tax liabilities arising thereon amounted
to RMB2,750,000 (2010: RMB2,120,000) (Note 26).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2011 was RMB103,295,000 (2010:
RMB59,753,000). Further details are given in Note 16.
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has net deferred
tax assets of RMB11,034,000 (2010: RMB12,352,000)
and deferred tax liabilities of RMB4,620,000 (2010:
RMB4,453,000). To the extent it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences will be utilised, deferred tax assets
are recognised for temporary differences arising from
impairment provisions of property, plant and equipment,
inventories and receivables, decelerated tax depreciation
and amortisation, certain accrual items and unused tax
losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2011 was RMB12,129,000 (2010: RMB18,547,000). Further
details are contained in Note 26 to the financial statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR

ERGRTHE R MG (&)

A THBEER (&)

PriZ®
AEBETEFRHEBRAEN -
EREMBHZBERBFEHEXN
HE - EFEEXRBBAREF  REX
HRFAETIRERERZEENHR
Mo REEAMBRKE BHAR
SMRIR - AR B E
REE - WRFEEZIREBBE
REBVCHEAFRNSBETIR - &
SERER R ERERBHR M
S MBI SRR

BT IEEER B &
R2011FE12A31H » K& E FF
EET B E E AR 11,034,0007T
(20104 : A R #12,352,0007T)
MERTHEE EAR4,620,0007T
(20104 : A K ¥4 453,0007T) °
FEEFBEEETIRDE - BE MK
B FEREURR  BERFEEITE
REEGH - BETRAEE RRERT
HEBET 2 REREEEBREGT
EERER - EENBRATEER ERE
FBEM AT RSB EER2 AR -

TE1R A AT RE A 2 59 9 FE SR B4 FI) B 2R
EINBEMREAN - EBRTAE RF
AOREEEREREEHBEE -
EEZEIEEERKNS /ARG
ETARRERHAERENKREMNES
B BARTELRE  UAERE
BRNECHBEEENSE - R
20115 12A318 » KRR & %
B84 %A AR ¥12,129,0007C
(2010%F : AR #18,547,0007T) °
BB H N BRI 26 ©



Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering each asset’s remaining life. Cash flows applying
to each asset's remaining life are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rates
do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the
packaging businesses in which the cash-generating units
operate.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

e Gross margins 52% ~ 11%
o Growth rates 0% ~ 5%
o Discount rates after tax 10.8% ~ 15.1%

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and its expectations for market
development. The weighted average growth rates used are
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.
The discount rates used are after-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, which can be analysed by
eight business units based on their products and services
as follows:

(a) Beverage cans — engages in the manufacture and sale
of three-piece beverage tinplate cans and two-piece
beverage aluminium cans. Three-piece beverage
tinplate cans are primarily used for packaging tea
drinks, protein drinks, energy drinks, congees, fruit
and vegetable juices and coffee drinks. Two-piece
beverage aluminium cans are primarily used for
packaging carbonated drinks, beer and tea drinks;
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4. Operating segment information (continued)

(b)

Food cans — engages in the manufacture and sale of
milk powder cans mainly for packaging milk powder,
nutrition powder and seasonings; and general
food cans mainly for packaging processed fruit,
vegetables, meat and seafood;

Aerosol cans — engages in the manufacture and
sale of aerosol cans mainly for packaging household
chemical products, such as air fresheners,
personal care products and insecticides and other
chemical products, such as auto-care products and
construction glues;

Metal caps — engages in the manufacture and sale of
twist caps mainly for glass jars to pack vegetables,
fruit and seasonings; crown caps for bottles of
beer, Coca-Cola beverages and other drinks; and
easy-open ends for three-piece beverage cans and
two-piece beverage cans;

Printed and coated tinplates — engages in the
manufacture and sale of printed and coated tinplates
for other manufacturers to produce metal containers,
batteries, other electrical items and electrical
appliances, such as rice cookers;

Steel barrels — engages in the manufacture and sale
of 200-liter or larger steel barrels for bulk edible oil,
fruit juice, jam, fragrance and flavoring substances for
industrial use and lubricating oil;

Plastic packaging — engages in the manufacture and
sale of plastic packaging for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic device of electronic products, daily use
hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles and
related plastic-made products; and

Others — engages in the manufacture and sale of
mainly rectangular cans, miscellaneous cans for
small-pack edible oil, alcohol, tea, solid food, such as
cookies, confectionary and chocolate, stationery and
toys.
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Operating segment information (continued)

Management monitors the results of its business units
separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Business
unit performance is evaluated based on revenue, as
explained in the table below.

™

., l‘:

-
Fri

L

v
-

L

4.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 Eji%*&ﬁﬁj%}

2011412 A31H

REBEERE (A)

EEEEBEREREMNESE
A ERD KR KRBT EELR
o FHBEMMHRBRBAET
fly - T RATAL

Group

AEEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBT T
Beverage cans SR i 2,210,312 1,554,639
Food cans B 323,262 258,494
Aerosol cans AR 316,475 316,493
Metal caps SBE 631,559 641,806
Printed and coated tinplates ENZ, 176,658 174,867
Steel barrels 1] 178 303,024 193,821
Plastic packaging BB 196,565 125,331
Others HAtb 184,422 151,240
4,342,277 3,416,691

Geographical information

As the Group’s major operations and customers are located
in Mainland China, no further geographical segment
information is provided.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB1,880,219,000 (2010:
RMB1,418,960,000) was derived from the five largest
customers.

1t 325 B B

HRANEENERXZLREFYM
RABE AR - R ERERE—FH
oI D EBE L o

FEXERFNER
REAMZRATFHKRALARE
1,880,219,0007T (20104 : AR
1,418,960,0007T ) °
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5. Revenue, other income and gains-net 5. WA~ Hittit AR Wz — F5
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents WA - TFENAREBNE X BF
the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for NETEEmEEFE - &HRR
returns and trade discounts during the year. BERESI -

An analysis of revenue, other income and net gains is as AT EAREEWA - HMA KF
follows: W B DT
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Revenue A
Sale of goods HEEM 4,342,277 3,416,691
Other income Hug A
Government grants* TR T 4 > 37,641 48,157
Gains-net Wi — FEE
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE  BEN
plant and equipment Bl St (2,449) (252)
Write-back of other payables At < SR ] 283 14,618
Other gains H b as 6,698 4,669
4,532 19,035
42,173 67,192
*  The government grants are granted by the local authority to Y BUTRERNRA T E AT T X
support local companies. There are no unfulfilled conditions XIFEH LA o 15 LB A R
or contingencies relating to these grants. ERRE e E FE -

6. Profit before income tax 6. BRETSHAIFE
The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after A5 B bR PRS B AT AE T &
charging/(crediting): (Gt A) U TIEBBER :

2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR¥T T ARET T
Cost of inventories sold BHEFEXA 3,648,569 2,892,672
Reversal of provision against TFE B (RO
inventories (625) (1,688)
Cost of sales SHER AR 3,647,944 2,890,984
Depreciation e 14 117,846 96,109
Recognition of land use rights T AR RERR 15 3,108 2,605
Amortisation of other intangible E b A A o
assets 17 1,264 1,242
Minimum lease payments under KEHETEF
operating leases kBB
for buildings and warehouses e 20,893 12,220
Auditors’ remuneration % 2R AT N & 2,710 2,457
Provision for impairment of B S EBGRR
trade receivables H ftn FEUR
and other receivables RER 864 7,119
Employee benefit expense EERAMEMR
(including directors’ (BEES
remuneration): <) :
Wages and salaries ITERFE 286,886 216,581
Pension scheme contributions IRRES T2 24,935 18,891
Other benefits H 187 33,941 25,999
Equity-settled share option w4 E BB AR R 2
expense 392 =
346,154 261,471
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7. Finance costs — net 7. BWKER - FHE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
. . . , Tl Bt 7 2R A CASH FLOWS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: TH A BERDT N
Group
TEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTF T
Interest on: S
Bank loans wholly repayable ERAEFREH OFSFT@EQACE&[
within five years BEMIRITER 33,334 17,632 POSITION
Loans from COFCO Finance REFRIBHER SBIRRE
(Note 35 (a)) (B5E35 (a)) 2,643 -
Total interest expense A BRI 35,977 17,532
Less: Interest capitalised W BAEFE (4,827) -
31,150 17,532
Other finance costs: Bty BER :
Bank charges BITEA 2,866 3,075 NOTES TO THE
Foreign exchange gains, net PE 5 Uk 2 588 (26,011) (9,768) FINANCIAL
Total finance costs BT 8,005 10,839 R
Finance income — BRI A — SR1THF B U A
Bank interest income (22,651) (4,140)
(14,646) 6,699
8. Directors’ remuneration 8. BEEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to EELKEEML IR ESSBAT Fﬁ'kfg%ﬁﬁ
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock SHAERATIELS FHBRES SUMMARY
- RFUBHRE

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Section 161 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

NENEBIE 1616 IREBENT ¢

Group
REH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETTT
Fees for independent BYIENITES
non-executive directors P o 416 346
Other emoluments: F T
Salaries, allowances and e EMREDET
benefits in kind 908 711
Performance related bonuses FIR BN IEAT 528 497
Equity-settled share option expense T 4 E IR IR IR 66 -
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFT B 79 63
1,581 1,271
1,997 1,617
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

8. EEME (&)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS ()

FARERER

Independent non-executive directors () BALFHITES

FANTBELFATESTHERS I

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

during the year were as follows: 5 8
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
i S Warperg ERRAE - :
POSITION Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo ERER NS A 208 173
BN Mr. Fu Tingmei RS E 208 173
416 346

FRALBELNBLIFRTEFTOHE
B (2010%F : &) -

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2010: Nil).
* Mr. Shi Wanpeng has agreed to waive his current year * ABBEEEREHERKRERAK
NOTES TO THE and future emoluments. KayF B o
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BiE 2 ek (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors b)) BITEERIHITES
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits  Performance  share option scheme
in kind related expense contributions Total
e 28 bonuses BRgE R{kE€  remuneration
FVEVEAR RENEHN RERBREL  BRERX TR “ite
TR RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB 000
SUMMARY ARETR AR%TR AR%®Tn AR%TR AR%Txn
RFEHMBHE
2011 20114
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Xue Guoping BRTELE - - - - -
Mr. Wang Jinchang TeE%4E 120 - 28 13 161
Mr. Zhang Xin RITLAE 788 528 24 66 1,406
908 528 52 79 1,567
Non-executive directors:  FERITEE
Mr. Ning Gaoning BoEEL - - - - -
Mr. Zhou Zheng Rk E - - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei HKELE - - 14 - 14
908 528 66 79 1,581
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)

&N d g
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(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

(continued)
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E=M<E (&)
(D) BITESERFHTES (H)

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits ~ Performance  share option scheme
in kind related expense  contributions Total
= bonuses BaEE RIkE  remuneration
REWEN RREBEL  BRERX TR @stie
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
2010 20105
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Xue Guoping ERTRE = = - - -
Mr. Wang Jinchang TeE%EHE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Xin RHEE 711 497 = 63 1,271
M1 497 - 63 1,271
Non-executive directors:  JFHITEE
Mr. Ning Gaoning EE%E = = = = =
Mr. Zhou Zheng i€ = = = = =
Mr. Hu Yonglei tHKELE = = - - -
71 497 - 63 1,271

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year, except for the waiver disclosed in Note 8(a).

9. Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one (2010: one) director, details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining four (2010: four) non-director, highest paid

B B iE8(a) T IR BB HO SN - F I
VT EEERBEEMNLHEREXFRE
HEME -

TEFMESHNES

FALEFHMEENEERE %
E% (2010F - —&)  EHEFHE
EEMN EXES - FRERME
(2010%F : M%) REFMIFERE

employees for the year are as follows: BRMEFBAT

Group

REE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REYEF

in kind 1,490 1,453
Performance-related bonuses FIG B IEAL 1,042 1,021
Equity-settled share option expense o 4t IR 2 47 -
Pension scheme contributions RADETEIER 241 226
2,820 2,700
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2011412H31H

Five highest paid employees (continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011, the
emoluments of each of the above non-director, highest paid
individuals paid by the Group were below RMB1,000,000
individually.

Income tax

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2010: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

10.

TEFHESNES (&)

R E £2010%F K%2011612A318 1t
FE AEEINATFLASER N
FEEATZEZHFIHHIERAR
#1,000,0007T °

FRE®

FAHRAKEREALEELT
o] ER W AE - S |l BB FF
BYEH B (20104 : &) o HAhith
THERBF B A EERBHE
AAEEARITREAE -

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Group: REHE -
Current — Mainland China REf — R A
Charge for the year FAZH 78,733 58,638
(Overprovision)/Underprovision BEFE GREEE)
in prior years TREHE (2,996) 882
Deferred income tax (Note 26) FEIEFTIS T (PM97E26) 1,485 8,362
Total tax charge for the year FATIARST H 77,222 67,882

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to
profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries
are domiciled to the income tax expense/(credit) at the
effective tax rates is as follows:

CPMC Holdings Limited #ig 8 245G R A

AR AT~ EAE DM BB M
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10.

Income tax (continued)

2.:v= Notes to Financial Statements
) 31 December 2011 Bt 7& 30 == 4=+

2011412 A31H

10. FR5% ()

Group - 2011 AEE - 20115
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
&E HERi &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETR AR®ET R
Profit/(loss) before income tax BERSHATTIE,/ (B8) (8,452) 371,467 363,015
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMEAE 758 (1,395) 92,867 91,472
Profit not subject to tax ARIEEEDA
due to concessions* e viopbEN - (16,112) (16,112)
Expenses not deductible for tax ArF 2 Y 1,395 1,041 2,436
Adjustments in respect of AT AR R
current tax of previous periods T - (2,996) (2,996)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% AEEHEHBEATF
on the distributable profits of AR E 5%
certain PRC subsidiaries BMFE - 2,750 2,750
Tax losses utilised from RBER
previous periods BEER - (845) (845)
Tax losses not recognised RERZ AR - 517 517
Tax charge at the REFRERT X
Group’s effective rate HEFEMAY - 77,222 77,222

Group - 2010 REHE - 20105F
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
0 At CE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BETERATFE /(ER) (19,736) 305,937 286,201
Tax at the statutory tax rates REERETE BB (3,256) 76,484 73,228
Profit not subject to tax due RIEEEEE
to concessions* BRI - (21,180) (21,180)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 3,256 10,204 13,460
Adjustments in respect of current DATE BA RS 2R B
tax of previous periods FiIE AR - 882 882
Effect of withholding tax at 5% AEEREHENT
on the distributable profits of A DIEAE25%
certain PRC subsidiaries BMFE = 2,120 2,120
Tax losses utilised from AN
previous periods HIBERE - (2,379) (2,379)
Tax losses not recognised AR L TIBER - 1,751 1,751
Tax charge at the Group’s AEERERHE
effective rate FEZREL L = 67,882 67,882
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Notes to Financial Statements  =;..3 % _ £ : : - = : : . : : . : :
B & $R R MfsF 31 December 2011

2011412H31H

10. FR5% ()

10. Income tax (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS * Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to * REBEFPEERERE - PEEZL5%

FARERER

corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the rate of 25%. However,
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, being incorporated as
foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, have obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities in the PRC for their
entitlement to exemption from CIT for the first two years and
50% reduction in CIT for the next three years, commencing
from the first profitable year after offsetting all unexpired tax
losses carried forward from the previous years in accordance
with the relevant tax rules and regulations applicable to

H) P E A RATR B ([T
EH) o iy AEBER P BT
MR BN REDFZETHE
R ABRIETF BIINE R E 1P 8
ZHBEN - BB BRI
HE - BEHBEFREBZE
KRB EIRIE 2 B (AR F/E
B B EFRES R FE
PR - WRAE = FREBR50%

STATEMENT foreign investment enterprises in the PRC. IPRATEH -

OF FINANCIAL

POSITION . 8 b

E%S%Hﬁoifﬂi During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group R E £22007F128318 IF F € -

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

undertook certain intra-group restructuring (the
“Restructuring”) pursuant to which the equity interests
in certain PRC subsidiaries held by BVI subsidiaries of
the Group were transferred to certain HK subsidiaries of
the Group. The Group obtained approval from Foreign
Trade and Economic Cooperation Bureau at the end
of 2007. Since 2009, the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation have issued a series of
regulations and rules, with retroactive effect on 1 January
2008, concerning group restructuring (collectively, the
“Group Restructuring Tax Rules”). The Group Restructuring
Tax Rules stipulate that the capital gain derived from
equity transfer should be recognised when the transfer
agreement takes effective and the changing procedures
related to the equity transfer are completed. The directors
are of the opinion that in substance the Restructuring was
completed in 2007 and hence before the effective date of
Group Restructuring Tax Rules. Accordingly, the directors

AEFEETETEERNEARA (£
M) BEBHE AEDEBER
REEWNBARRETHEHEAR
AFERECEREAEEETE
VS M B A R o AN & B 20076 &
KATESHINEZEEA RN
18 - B20094F 8 + BABED - BRFL
BEBEM—RIEEEEEAN
EREBR (AE T EEEARB
AN - BPE2008F1A1B#£E
o EEBEATIER AR EHER
T /) B AN UK A FE R B SR 15 R AR AR
BB EEEFERER =5
RAE BEHEE FBR2007FFE
TR AMBEREEEARBERL
ERAIER - At EERAEM
B RE N H AL BEKEREAR
TR %R o Bt I 5 H R AN 15

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL are of the view that it is more likely that the Restructuring WMFRAELBIIERAE
%ﬁ%gﬁ%g will not cause any significant tax impact to the Group.
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11.

Consequently, no tax provision thereon has been made in
these financial statements.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011
includes a profit of approximately RMB36,407,000 (2010:
RMB55,948,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company (Note 29(b)).

CPMC Holdings Limited Aigf =ik H R AR

11.

RAFRAEEFE AEMAEFE

#H E22011F12831B IEFE AR
AIRAFE ABGLRAFBEELY
A B2 #36,407,0007T (20104F : A
R 55,948,0007t) W A8 - B 7
ANARFIEHREPETERE (M
29(b)) °
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FARERER

12. Dividends 12. RE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF AR¥ETFT
Interim — RMB0.033 RE — BT RAR
(2010: RMBO0.025) AR¥0.0337C
per ordinary share (20104 : AR®0.0257T) 27,390 20,885
Proposed final - RMB0.035 BRARE — BARE AR
(2010: RMBO0.026) AR#0.0357C
per ordinary share (20104 : AE¥0.0267T) 29,050 21,580
56,440 42,465

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the company

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB280,298,000 (2010:
RMB212,273,000) and the weighted average number of
830,000,000 (2010: 830,000,000) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010 in respect of a dilution as the
impact of the options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect
on the basic earnings per share amounts presented.

N 2B R HA AR BRI FE JE A R
BFERE LESARARRILE
JTRMEE °

13. AR AIEBERBRAZTEANE
HEREF

BRERENNSEDRENFE
HIZAR R BV E B AT A ARG FE
AR#280,298,0007T (20104 : A
K#212,273,0007T) RFAND BT
B AR HY hN#E - 159 20830,000,000%
(20104 : 830,000,000/%) -

BERBERN SR ZFAERER
NEEBBERA ARG ZFAR
B o MEtE R ER 2 & BBINEF
BHRREFESRERERN 2 F
NEBHTEBREE - URBEET
FEEHEEHILRARSEBRR
REERTEBBRINEFSE -

MR RITEBREHMES 2 ZR
ERRMEERBESE A
R BB 220114 &2010F 12 A31
BIEFEZSREARBFIELHEHS
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Notes to Financial Statements ™" 2,1 \s" .5 7,08 S8 20w v e s
Z) = 31 December 2011
R 25 2 i 20114128318
14. Property, plant and equipment 14. Y% - RERFZE
Group AEM
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold  Machineries equipment
improve- and and fixtures
ments  equipment EF#M > Construction
Buidings ~ HENE WER  Vehicles BAERE  inprogress Total
’F % EY ] EgIA R%E ERIR fit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
31 December 2011 2011£12831A
At 1 January 2011: H2011E1A1A -
Cost AR 419,851 - 1,442,993 28,451 49,798 115,973 2,057,066
Acounulated depreciaion  Z:HTE
and impairment K (19,285) - (96617 (16021)  (19732) - (451,655)
Net carrying amount RR3E 400,566 - 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115,973 1,605,411
At 1 January 2011, AREIRAEE
net of accumulated Mk
depreciation and ZirifE
impairment KRE 400,566 - 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115,973 1,605,411
Additions AE 2,383 5,229 37516 2,695 7738 247391 302,952
Disposals HE (1,883) - (8,159) (14) (3,797) - (13813)
Depreciation provided ~ RA%RE
during the year TERE (15,259) (532) (90,371) (3,794) (7890) - (117846)
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WE—TRIHBA
(Note 30) (FizE30) 33,072 - 18,868 - - - 51,940
Transfers upon completion TR A 12,178 4 94,981 181 7522 (114,906) -
At31 December 2011, ROON4128318 -
net of accumulated ks
depreciation and ZathE
impairment KRE 431,007 41 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248,458 1,828,644
At31 December 2011:  R20114512A318 :
Cost B 461,669 5,273 1,581,941 30,064 60,900 248,458 2,388,305
Accumulated depreciaion  Z5HE
and impairment R (30,572) (532)  (482,730) (18,566) (27,261) - (559,661)
Net carrying amount FEFE 431,007 4,1 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248,458 1,828,644

CPMC Holdings Limited /g 85128 AR A 7]



son e e T el e 50T el 5.5 Notes to Financial Statements
: 31 December 2011 Bt 7& 30 == 4=+

2011412 A31H

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14. Y% - BERZE (E) CONSOLIDATED
STC/-\TSEMEN[T) og
= ASH FLOW.
et ARE BABLRER
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold equipment
improve-  Machineries and fixtures
ments and EF&E:  Construction
Buidings ~ ME%WE  equipment Vehicles  MAZHRE  inprogress Total STATEMENT
BT 5B HEkdE W E3IA REE  RRIE At U F'PN(fleg@h
RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOD  RMBIOD ATy

AEBTn  ARETR ARETR ARETn  ARMTR AR¥Tn  ARET:

31 December 2010 20106128318

At 1 January 2010: #R2010F1A1A :
Cost KA 351,225 - 963,824 23615 31,239 282,512 1,602,415
Accumulated ZithhE
depreciation and R
impairment (33,664) - (275,834) (12,750) (11,582) - (333,800) NOTES TO THE
Net carrying amount BEFE 317,561 - 687,990 10,865 19,687 282,512 1,318,615 ST:‘II'I:E‘I\VINE(:GI?S-
At 1 January 2010, R010F1A18
net of accumulated Mk
depreciation and ZirfE
impairment KRB 317,561 - 687,990 10,865 19,687 282,512 1,318,615
Additions RE 157 - 11,559 3,392 3,302 321,406 339,816
Disposals it (99) - (3481) (411) (124) - (4115)
Depreciation provided WAEE
during the year TERR (13,945) = (71,385) (3987) (6,792) - (96,109) FIVE-YEAR
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —TEHBAF FINANCIAL
(Note 30) (K:t30) 20922 - 24994 146 842 - 47,204 Lo
Transfers upon completion TRk A 75,970 = 396,699 212 13,151 (487 945) - :
At 31 December 2010, 12010E12A318
net of accumulated Bl
depreciation and Zitig
impairment KA 400,566 - 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115,973 1,605,411
At 31 December 2010:  H2010F12831H :
Cost KA 419,851 - 1,442,993 28,451 49,798 115,978 2,057,066
Accumulated ZihE
depreciation RfE
and impaiment (19,285) S (6T (18021)  (19732) - ({451656)
Net carrying amount REFE 400,566 - 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115,973 1,605,411
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Notes to Financial Statements
B F& 3R FMFsF 3! December 2011

2011412H31H

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

14. W¥ - BMERRE (F)

Company FiN/NC|
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
At 1 January: Mm1A18 :
Cost B AR 627 607
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (263) (142)
Net carrying amount BREFE 364 465
At 1 January, net of Mm1A1H
accumulated depreciation Nk ZE:tie 364 465
Additions = - 20
Depreciation provided during the year ~ RAERFE (130) (121)
At 31 December, net of M12H8318 -
accumulated depreciation MR REHTE 234 364
At 31 December: M12H318 :
Cost AN 627 627
Accumulated depreciation 2:TE (393) (263)
Net carrying amount BREFE 234 364

The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment held under finance leases included in the
total amounts of machineries and equipment and vehicles
at 31 December 2011 amounted to RMB828,000 (2010:
RMB2,154,000) and RMB544,000 (2010: RMB1,097,000),

respectively.

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s buildings,
with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB114,695,000 (2010: RMB133,529,000), were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group

(Note 25(a)(i)).

CPMC Holdings Limited #ig 8 245G R A

R2011F 128318 @ & #E £ 1% 25
NEE REHIAS  KEEF
RBEHETRENE TWE -
WEREENERRFED I AA
E #828,0007T (20104 : A R #
2,154,0007T) & A R #544,0007T
(20104 : AR#1,097,0007T) °

R2011F12831H &N & B W
ETEFNAERFEOARE
114,695,0007T (20104 : A B &
133,529,0007T) E{ERIFIEAARE
EER—RBTEEMNER (M
25(a)(i)) °



:v= Notes to Financial Statements
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2011412 A31H

15. Land use rights 15. T fE AR

Group

TEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T
Net carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1 ERANFE 109,158 95,871
Additions = 770 15,892
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 30) W E—REM E A7) (B9FE30) 24,404 =
Recognised during the year RERNER (3,108) (2,605)
Net carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31BEREFE 131,224 109,158

All of the Group’s land use rights are held under long term
leases and are situated in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2011, land use rights with an
aggregate net carrying amount of RMB30,322,000 (2010:
RMB25,105,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (Note 25(a)(ii)).

AEEMA LI EREDRERS
THAFEA WAL T B A, o

R2011F12A318 » BEREFEA
A R #30,322,0007T (20104F : A
R #25,105,00070) B £ b {F A 4
EEAAEERITEE ZEM (M

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FARERER

FT25(a)(ii)) °

16. Goodwill 16. B8
Group -]
RMB’000
AR®T T
At 1 January 2010: R2010F1 518 :
Cost DN 1,809
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE -
Net carrying amount BREVFE 1,809
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of R20105F1 818 » kR Est
accumulated impairment B Z PR 1,809
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 30) U BE—RM B A=l (FiFE30) 57,944
At 31 December 2010 12010128318 59,753
At 31 December 2010: #2010F12A311 :
Cost B A 59,753
Accumulated impairment ZERIAE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 59,763
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of R20114F1 1B KR -
accumulated impairment Nk RFHRE 59,753
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 30) WiE—RM B AR (KiFE30) 43,542
Cost and net carrying amount R2011F12A31 BRI A K&
at 31 December 2011 BREVHE 103,295
At 31 December 2011: R2011412H31H
Cost RN 103,295
Accumulated impairment REPRE -
Net carrying amount BREDFE 103,295
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/g\zl-i%iﬁ%% Bﬁ-%} 31 December 2011

2011412H31H

S D) 16. Goodwill (continued) 16. B2 (&)

Notes to Financial Statements  *,.;&" 2, \¢" S 7, 0e S5 %08 ST T e waT

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FARERER

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations
in amounts of RMB1,809,000, RMB57,944,000 and
RMB43,542,000 has been allocated to the beverage cans
cash-generating unit, plastic packaging cash-generating
unit, and steel barrels cash-generating units, respectively.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has been

o R (R
BEREBEHEKBOEED A
= A K #1,809,000T © A KR ¥
57,944,0007T & A R #43,542,000
T ENRINRERMELREE
EEM ZBRERCAESELEM
NSz R e EAE B

AEBERIEV BRI E2.4PTE

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated GEHBX  SFARERERDR
g?%fgi in Note 2.4 to the financial statements. The recoverable 8- BeEL B A B WRIER
ALY

amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering each asset’s remaining
life. Cash flows applying to each asset’s remaining life are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates. The growth
rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for
the packaging businesses in which the cash-generating

BEREEFEETE - LT ERE
EEEHESREENGRAIEREF
RIFLZHBRERERETRS
MIEA - BRNBREENBRAE
RERZASRILRIET BRI X
R EER - ZERXWRBEE
ReELBUEEZREEBRY

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL units operate.

STATEMENTS

P RS . . . » e e
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations HEABEFENEEZERR
e Gross margins 17.3% ~ 26.5% o  FERE 17.3% ~ 26.5%
e Growth rates 5% ~ 34.4% o R 5% ~ 34.4%

o Discount rates after tax 14% ~ 15.1%

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and its expectations for market

o  WIEITIAE 14% ~ 15.1%

ERERBEBERRUAREHMS
BRZEHIREREENE - £

FIVE-YEAR " =
FINANCIAL development. The weighted average growth rates used are B2 iNkEE Y R REA{T R L
SUE%F;:% consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. TRE - - ERAZITRE/BE
TEMBIHE

164

The discount rates used are after-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.
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17. Other intangible assets

*FFoN

2011412 A31H

17. B EE

=" Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 E\j-a’%*&;—;l}ﬁ-%}

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FARERER

Group AEM
Customer Computer
relationship software Total
EFR% BiEG =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR¥TR

31 December 2011 2011%¥12831H
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of 2011F1 A18

accumulated amortisation N 5T AR 1,540 4,724 6,264
Additions NE - 685 685
Amortisation provided during the year — 4F 54 - (1,264) (1,264)
At 31 December 2011 72011612 H31H 1,540 4,145 5,685
At 31 December 2011: R2011612A31R -

Cost D% 1,540 10,256 11,796

Accumulated amortisation R i - (6,111) (6,111)

Net carrying amount REFHE 1,540 4,145 5,685
31 December 2010 2010%12831H
At 1 January 2010: M2010F1 A1R -

Cost (B9 1,540 9,009 10,549

Accumulated amortisation g f = (3,605) (3,605)

Net carrying amount RESE 1,540 5,404 6,944
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of M2010F1 A 1R

accumulated amortisation % 25T A R 1,540 5,404 6,944
Additions R - 562 562
Amortisation provided during the year R - (1,242) (1,242)
At 31 December 2010 720106 12A31H 1,540 4724 6,264
At 31 December 2010 and 7201012H31H

at 1 January 2011: R#2011461A18 ¢

Cost AR 1,540 9,571 11,111

Accumulated amortisation S fic! - (4,847) (4,847)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 4,724 6,264
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Notes to Financial Statements
B F& 3R FMFsF 3! December 2011

2011412H31H

18. Investments in subsidiaries

18. RMIB QA RIMIRE

Company
¥

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR - R 514,165 514,165
Due from subsidiaries JEULBH B A R IE 2,090,392 1,401,995
2,604,557 1,916,160

The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the
Company’s non-current assets are unsecured, interest-free
and are not repayable within one year. In the opinion of the
directors, these balances are considered as quasi-equity

loans to these subsidiaries.

The balances with subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and liabilities are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

BREARRIFRBDEERNNER
MR KASEEN - FEtER
PAR—FAKE - EERR
LR IR B4 THB R BH

B ER -

ARARNRBEERBET BTN
o8~ A AE RGBT - AR

FMORBETEERE -

%

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBARIMFESIT
Nominal value Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration BRTEI PN Principal
Company name and operations BRA& /i REE DL activities
ARER AR R A RAHEE =k BiE TEEXEHR
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging PRC/Mainland China US$30,050,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * FE/HREIN  30,050,000% 7T metal packaging
MNP REEARERAA" tEARLE
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd. *  PRC/Mainland China US$30,290,000 - 100  Manufacture of
BNERERERBERAR hE/ENY  30,290,000%T metal and
plastic packaging
SENZRBE
KE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.** PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 61.48  Manufacture of
BHERREERA A HmE/HREIRM 25,000,000 metal packaging
tEAREE
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$32,500,000 - 100  Manufacture of
MmN EeEERAR R/ HREIRNY 32,500,000 metal packaging
EBAREE
COFCO Packaging Tianjin PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
Company Limited * HE/HERM  50,000,000%T metal packaging
iRk (R2) BRAR EEEREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
R () BRAR FE/HRER 20,000,000 T metal packaging

TREREE

CPMC Holdings Limited #ig 8 245G R A



18.

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
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2011412 A31H

18. RIBE R RAHNKRE (&)

Nominal value Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration BRTE NGt Principal
Company name and operations R /M REBAL activities
AR EH MRS it RAEE Ei M TEXK
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Can End Co., Ltd. *  PRC/Mainland China US$10,250,000 - 100  Manufacture of
RlEE% (BEI) 2EFRAA BmE/HREIRM  10,250,000%5T metal packaging
CERELE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China ~ RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
RRAEFREEERAR™ HE /B AR® metal packaging
17,000,0007T TBAREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
TEaE (Hg) RO B /B  30,000,000%T metal packaging
CERREE
Shenzhen CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
A REBEERAR HE/RERM AR metal packaging
50,000,000 TBARAE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. *  PRC/Mainland China US$22,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
MR REAR AR HE/HERNE  22,000,000%T metal packaging
SBARAE
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC/ Mainland China US$3,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * (“Shanghai Pinguan”) FE /RERM 3,800,000 7T plastic packaging
J:iu“uﬁ%ﬁﬁ%l%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ* BREREE
(TEE@R])
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$18,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
(“CPMC Kunshan”) HE/HENE  18,000,000% T metal packaging
REeE (B) ARARN cEOREE
(Tgas (BIL)])
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$17,750,000 - 100  Manufacture of
FREEE (B1) BRAR HERERS  17,750,000%T metal packaging

TEERLE

*

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

** Sino-foreign equity joint ventures

*okk

Domestic-funded enterprises

The statutory financial statements of the above subsidiaries
are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

During the year, the Group acquired Keep Excellence
Limited (“Keep Excellence”) and CPMC Kunshan. Further
details of the acquisition are included in Note 30 to the

financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

< WEBELE
o PYARDE
o REDE

b St B /B R R 00K E B B HR AR 3 3F
MEBL KA ERAT > kK
S ESAERBEANSE — 5
REBRRIFmEL o

RAEE  AEFREHREERA
a (&) krhEa® (BW)-
UG B8 2 3 — 5 5F 15 B B 75 3R 3K I
££30 °

EREINEZRBEIEFEAFER
RERBRAEEFEERNT DO
ARARIMERR - EEZRS - ZH
Hinfi@ARNHBERRETR -
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Notes to Financial Statements 5,

B 4=} 31 December 2011 : : : ) )
B 5 S MY o 20114128318
19. Inventories 19.7E
Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Raw materials M 324,894 257,479
Work in progress TR 159,843 149,494
Finished goods D 368,729 186,904
Consumables FEM 15,920 11,489
869,386 605,366
20. Trade and bills receivables 20.E5 MR RERERE
Group
KEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREFIT
Trade and bills receivables from REFE=ZFEREHEIR
third-party customers B SRR R EREE 576,816 630,231
Trade and bills receivables from RE B TR E S
related parties (Note 35(b)) R R (FI5E35(D)) 33,797 9,181
610,613 639,412
Impairment DERIE] (1,129) (3,527)
609,484 635,885

CPMC Holdings Limited Hrig 21 H R A7)
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Notes to Financial Statements

20.

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

31 December 2011 Ej;]’%iﬁﬁ M;J-%I

2011412 H31H

20.EZ R ERRE (&)

CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly AEEBGETEPEESR HHEP i.ﬁ%fﬁgﬂg

on credit, except for new customers, where payment AREBEENR - FEEH—KAEI0 e
in advance is normally required. The credit period is FOKR - BREFHUERBEER
generally for 30 to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum o AEEBESREBEEFHERES
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control FEW AR - KRB EEEHHEE
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control ERBERERE SREEAED
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are TR EAKIE AEBW R
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group REE B ERTE T WER

does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements mEEMEERE - EHEKAKZE STATEMENT

over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are TETEH o OFFleoASr\:Tc‘l(/)\h

non-interest-bearing. iilo

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of provisions, is as follows:

RBERERENEKE ZER R
EUZEZREZBH - WMEREE
B RRER DT ¢

Group
AEEH
2011 2010 NOTES TO THE
RMB’000 RMB’000 FINANGIAL
ARBTRE  ARET ML
Within 3 months 3ME AR 604,315 626,225
3 to 12 months 3E 12 A 4,583 9,089
1 to 2 years 1224 451 400
Over 2 years 2F LA 135 171
609,484 635,885

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade

BHRYGRRERBEZINT

FIVE-YEAR
receivables are as follows: FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
hEHEEE
Group
REE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
At 1 January »1A1H 3,527 1,817
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised ($#[8]) / B 1R 2 BEE B (38) 4,904
Amount written off as uncollectible WEER A Y E z £ %58 (2,360) (3,194)
At 31 December M®12H31H 1,129 3,527
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Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB1,129,000 (2010: RMB3,527,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB1,129,000 (2010:
RMB3,527,000).

The individually impaired accounts receivable relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not

LB SRR ERED &
RS A R#1,129,0007T (20104 -
AR#3,527,0007T) @ERIEREEZ
SN BE - EREREE
BEAARE1,129,0007T (20104 :
AR#3,527,0007T) °

ER B RREREREE BT
F B B % R 2 X TR A 2 sg W Bl &R 7
FEMRIR - AEBY B ZFHEH
FEEMNERRNEMIERERR
=3

REFIH KRR SRENE 5 EK

individually or collectively considered to be impaired is as HEBRE AT AT
follows:
Group
rEHE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETT
Neither past due nor impaired R K R E 605,259 630,924
Less than 1 month past due el S K DS 1,919 3,617
1 to 3 months past due #HA1 2= 3(E A 1,467 512
More than 3 months past due 180 HREA A 3 1E H 839 832
609,484 635,885

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to the customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR

2R 780 5 75 2R R B A B UK K B B
BERFGFNEFAR

B8 BB R IERE 2 B WGRIR T) 8
AEBERFRGLBZREFT
EFEH - - REBEBEERR  ~AA
EERR MRSHEHBMNE AR
EEBRYARBLEEAES - A
FRHENDAESTHKE - REA
SLUCIE R AR ERE - AREY
BRZEERBAEMERRRHE
IR EEHE -
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21. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1. AR HERAEMERK e
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Group Company BARSRER
TEE N
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®ETRT AR%®TR ARETRT
Current assets REEE
Prepayments to third-party FENTE=AHER
suppliers 2B 400,854 229,425 5,495 694
Deposits e 6,975 5,806 105 110 OFSFTmRIACE&[
Input VAT recoverable AT #E TR E 98,348 63,273 - - POSITION
Prepaid expenses BB 2,354 1,767 - - BIBHRE
Other receivables Hib g ziia 13,356 15,169 399 =
Amounts due from related FEUSRRE A L RE
parties (Note 35(b)) (H$7E35(b)) 232 170 - =
522,119 315,610 5,999 804
Non-current assets FRBEE
Deposit for an investment REEBIES - 59,056 - -
Others HAth 1,849 2,293 - - NOTES TO THE
1,849 61,349 - - PG

The movements in the provision for impairment of other

receivables are as follows:

Hip Rl OB EREZESH T ¢

STATEMENTS

Group
rEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
_ o — FIVE-YEAR
AR®T T AREETTT FINANCIAL
At 1 January M A1H 3,243 3,777 SUMMAF;:
. . PN =0 R EHREHE
Impairment losses recognised ERRBEEE 902 2,215
Amount written off as uncollectible MEH R 2 S5 (1,241) (2,749)
At 31 December MW12H31H 2,904 3,243

B Ze REMBEEFEZT
ETEH o

The prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
non-interest-bearing.
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Notes to Financial Statements 5.5 AN ‘ -
B F& 3R FMfsF 3! December 2011

2011412H31H

22. Cash and cash equivalents and pledged

22@@&&%%%%&Eﬁ#ﬁ

deposits E
Group Company
rEE AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
Notes ~ RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000
Mz ARBTR ARBTT ARETR ARETR
Cash and bank balances HE RIB1THEE 1,677,142 528,453 803,267 7,258
Less: Ve
Pledged deposits for letters  FtFEZABE
of credit ER2EH (41,112)  (13,184) - =
Pledged deposits for WM EEE
bills payable B E3 23 (21,307) (14,578) - =
Pledged deposits for FRERITIETRIE
bank borrowings BHR2ER 25(a)(iii) (2,907)  (19,519) - =
(65,326)  (47,281) - =
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIREZEY 1,611,816 481,172 803,267 7,258

At 31 December 2011, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to RMB533,618,000 (2010: RMB380,421,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR

R2011FE128318 » KREBUAR
(AR ] sHEMER & RIBITHE
# B A R #533,618,0007T (2010
F . A R #380,421,0007T) ° A
REBIAERAEBRAHEMER - R
i AR R AR B A A HEE B IR R 1B
NEEE - EERMNESERTE @ &
SEAERERERSINEELEL
RITIHARKRRAEME -

RTINS LT B RITHFRF ERER
FEBHE - REAKEHRSTR
2O - FEHE M AE s S e
—BE=ZEARLEF UnFlRAH
Z L EATE M AE SR R BRER A B - 4R
TREABERBERERDERIHNE
R BEERFZIRIT



23.

Trade and bills payables

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

™

., l‘:

-

&

L

: ' Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2011 Ej;]’%iﬁﬁ M;J-%I

2011412 A31H

B.EZRARRENRERE

RMEPERE  HBEZAHTHE
MESENR N ENZENERRD
T

Group

AEEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Within 3 months 3EAR 800,022 611,873
3 to 12 months 3&12{8A 51,533 76,540
1to 2 years 1224 1,707 1,756
Over 2 years 2F LA E 2,534 1,210
855,796 691,379

Included in the trade and bills payables are trade payables
of RMB328,000 (2010: Nil) due to fellow subsidiaries which
are repayable within 90 days, which represents similar
credit terms offered by these fellow subsidiaries to their
major customers (Note 35 (b)).

As at 31 December 2011, bank deposits of RMB21,307,000
(2010: RMB14,578,000) had been pledged as security for
bills payable of RMB469,291,000 (2010: RMB365,752,000)
(Note 22).

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 days.

BoORNARENZERIERMNR
AWNBARNESENRARE
328,000t (2010%F : &) * ZFE XK
BARIOBANEE  BZEREN
BARGTEFERF ZEEIER
% (MiFE35(b)) °

R2011E12831H @ BT FERAR
#21,307,0007T (20104 : AR
14,578,0007T) EERBEMNZHE A
R ¥469,291,0007C (20104 : A
R #365,752,0007T) H 3% 38 & (B
F¥22) o

BORNRAEEBNEBRBRETFE
B BEERHAERE /30E0A -
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Notes to Financial Statements ..

Z) = 31 December 2011 ’ ’ ’ ’
B R M aE 20114128318
24. Other payables and accruals 24 Ht B R FESTIE R
Group Company
rEE ¥ N
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
Current liabilities =R
Advances from customers REHR 61,479 109,035 - =
Salary and welfare payables JEfT L& RAEF| 55,097 34,576 - =
Accrual expenses fEETE A 40,117 34,212 13,748 3,093
Guarantee deposits from suppliers {tfE {754 13,852 5178 - _
Payables for purchases ot R AN
of equipment 15,529 22,489 - -
Amounts due to related parties  JEEAEA T FIA
(Note 35(b)) (Bff5E35(b)) 48 335 - =
Tax payables other than current  F & HRFTI5:
income tax liabilities BEINENTIER 21,430 15,321 9,443 4,864
Consideration payable FERRAE 40,000 = - =
Others Hib 47213 34,154 - -
294,765 255,300 23,191 7,957
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Consideration payable ERRIE - 40,000 - -

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and

have an average term of three months.

CPMC Holdings Limited A ig 8 245 G R A ]

Hit BN EEEHE 2T E
B FHFERMA=MEA -



25. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

=" Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2011 E\ji%*&;—; M;J-%I

2011412 H31H

25. 5 BRITREMER

Group AEE
2011 2010
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BERGORR  Mawrty  RMB'000 EFRAHIFIE Maturity ~ RMB'000
(%) 18 AR%TR (%) e ARETL
Current I
Bank loans - unsecured RITER - BER 1.36 - 6.60 2012 265,038  0.70-4.59 2011 488,147
Bank loans - secured POER-FEAR  338-6.10 2012 47908 2.00-4.59 2011 32,171
Other loans - unsecured EWEH - EEE
(Note 35(b)) (HiF¥35(b)) 6.10 2012 56,000 -
368,946 520,318
Non-current ek
Bank loans - unsecured BITEF - BEA  106-250 2014 1,822,050 =
2,190,996 520,318
Compan
pany LN
2011 2010
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BRENFIR Maturity ~ RMB'000 ERAHFIR Maturity RMB'000
(%) 38 ARBTR (%) s ARETR
Current B
Bank loans - unsecured BITED - BER 1.36 2012 189,704 0.70-1.42 2011 418,147
Non-current ek
Bank loans - unsecured SRITER — B 1.06 - 2.50 2014 1,822,050 =
2,011,754 418,147

Notes: Bzt -

(a) At the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s (a) RIEHIAN  NEFME FRITE
bank loans are secured by: U TS B -

(i) the Group’s buildings, which had an aggregate () FXEBHET KEFHE
net carrying amount of RMB114,695,000 (2010: # i A R #114,695,000
RMB133,529,000) (Note 14); gL (2010%F : A R ¥

133,629,000t ) (Hi:#14)

(i) the Group’s land use rights, which had an aggregate (i) A E 5y + 4 (Z - ARET
net carrying amount of RMB30,322,000 (2010: JF (8 51 A K #30,322,000
RMB25,105,000) (Note 15); and T (20106 : A R #

25,105,0007T) (Hii#15) « K&

(iii) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits (iii) KFEEF G E T E B 7AEH
amounting to RMB2,907,000 (2010: RMB19,519,000) A B #2907,0007T (2010
(Note 22). F: A K #19519,0005T)

(Ktztz2) »

(b) Except for bank loans of RMB1,011,754,000 (2010: (b) B A R #1,011,754,0005T (2010
RMB437,318,000) which are denominated in United States F - A & #437,318,0005T) H#Y iR
dollars, all borrowings are in RMB. TTEKUETEHES) - BT B E#

LA RKEIHE »
(c) The Group’s other loans are advanced from a fellow (c) AEEFZHEMEFEFZNE R A]

subsidiary, COFCO Finance, which is a wholly-owned

subsidiary of COFCO.

FEUBEN - FRYB BFEZ
2EMERA] -
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g » r > >
s .r_:: b . :_1. ::: . = 2_1. :; - = 2_1. ::: - = 2_1. :;
Notes to Financial Statements  5,:.5" 2, & 5.5 0 - o T
5) 42} 31 December 2011
R RS R M 20114128318
26. Deferred tax 26. B IA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRNREEREEERGENEF N
the year are as follows: T
Deferred tax assets BEEBBREE
Group REE
Decelerated  Decelerated
Provision for tax tax
Provision for Provisionfor ~ Provision impairment ~depreciation amortisation
impairment  impairment ~ for write-  of property, of property,  on the pre-
of trade of other downof  plantand  plantand  operating
receivables  receivables inventories  equipment  equipment  expenses Others Total
nEBE 9% KR L
RN EfELR #& e ] R HERZHZ
AERSE RERE BKERE <HERG WBHERE BB At fzt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR AR¥TR ARETR ARMTn ARETR ARETR  ARMTR
At 1 January 2010 R2010E1A18 33 1,048 1,016 12,988 4n 191 5223 2121
Deferred tax creditec)(charged) REEEGANEER
to the consolidated income BE /(1) Mg
statement during the year (Note 10) %8 (Fi3510) 467 (152) (449) (9.343) (85) = 643 (8919)
Gross deferred tax assets 0105124318
at 31 December 2010 R011E1A1A
and 1 January 2011 MEETLHEEE 802 896 566 3645 386 191 5,866 12,352
Deferred tax credited(charged) RAEEGARERA
to the consolidated income &R /(15)
staterment during the year (Note 1) EXEREE (F3k10) (431) (65) (253) (490) = = (79) (1318)
(Gross deferred tax assets R2011E12A31R
at 31 December 2011 BB EEE n 831 313 3,155 3686 191 5,787 11,034

CPMC Holdings Limited A ig 8 245 G R A ]
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26. Deferred tax (continued) 26 EZERE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities EEBEAE
Group AEHE
Withholding
Accelerated tax taxation of the
Accelerated tax depreciation of unremitted earnings
amortisation of property, plant of certain
land use rights and equipment subsidiaries Others Total
THERE 9% BEREE ETHEADREN
JMBRERE  ZMBRERE B2 BN Eft st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At1 January 2010 R2010F1A1H 1,120 301 1,460 - 2,881
Acquisition of subsidiaries YENBAT
(Note 30) (MfzE30) = 1839 - 290 2129
Deferred tax (credited)/charged ~ RAEE&AKERA
to the consolidated income (BR)/ MRHEETE
statement during the year (FzE10)
(Note 10) (74) (853) 660 (290) (557)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R2010612A31R
at 31 December 2010 R011E1A1H
and 1 January 2011 HEETLHERE 1046 1,287 2120 - 4,453
Deferred tax (credited)/charged ~ RAZEGAKERA
to the consolidated income (Bm) /1)
statement during the year ERBR (MiH0)
(Note 10) (73) (390) 630 - 167
Gross deferred tax liabilities R011F12A318
at 31 December 2011 MEEERARE 973 897 2,750 - 4,620
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26.

2011412H31H

Deferred tax (continued)

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB12,129,000 (2010: RMB18,547,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

26 JEERE (M)

ANEEWAEFRBRANME ST IEEIE
A R #12,129,0007T (20104 : A
R #18,547,00070) ' X —Z=H
FREM - AR AR R ERF A
HeARBHEBIEREERE —BR
MEBEBENWNB AR - B TRA
AR ERBEAEANIKETS
BeiIEEE WA ERERE
EFRTBEE -

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL

g?%fgi Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a BEPBECEMSHEE  RABEA
AANATNY

10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower

I ERERIBINEEET
K I B B IR 10% B TEFR » It
HEMN2008F1 A1HEARN - EA
R2007F12A31H AR ELEN A
o At NEBANK T HAML
XS &) F A 7 7200841 A18 LA
% EEREF DK A RS MTE
M - WP BE A EEREEIINTE

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty ERERMREER 2 HE] BB H
;T%;gﬁgs between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign 7 AR E AREATEEIE -
¢ investors.
27. Share capital 27. R A<
Shares ;&
2011 2010
FIVE-YEAR RMB’000 RMB'000
FINANCIAL = e
eivras ARETR ARET T
AEHBHE Authorised: ETE
1,500,000,000 (2010: 1,500,000,000) BIEEC.10 Bz TRk
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,500,000,0004% (20104 :
1,500,000,000 %) 132,072 132,072
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
830,000,000 (2010: 830,000,000) FREE10 Bz TER
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 830,000,000/ (20104 :
830,000,000/ ) 73,080 73,080
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28.

Share Option Scheme

On 23 October 2009, the shareholders of the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) for the purpose of attracting, retaining
and motivating directors and eligible participants and
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible
participants include, but are not limited to, any directors,
(excluding independent non-executive directors), officers
and employees of the Group, or any other person the
board of directors may propose. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16
November 2009.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of two to six years and ends on a date which
is not later than seven years from the date of offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

: ;;5‘ Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2011 E\j;]’%ﬁ% M;J—%I

2011412 H31H
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The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, a total of 8,300,000 share options were
granted to certain directors and employees of the Group
in respect of their service to the Group in the forthcoming
years. Details of option granted during the year and
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as
followings:

BERZITEERESRRE - BT
BERONEHBREZ B ARRA T
Betn FERE SR P 2 T (B ¢ (i) R E IR
HEHAAERS B ARRRRNE
Bt P2 B ¢ R(iin) B 2
mE (ABRSERE) -

BT EE TR ARIRE K
BERRBERASRREZER -

RARFEE - & $£8,300,00017 fE iz &
ERTASEETHEZRES -
NEREER BN AE B R R
B RAFEERBRERNTS
HAREATERZBREZFBN
T e

2011
Number of options granted
EREREHE Exercised price
Directors  Employees Total  Vesting period per share  Exercise period
Bz & /i FEH BROEE THH
’000 ’000 ’000 HK$
T4 T4 T BT
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2013 304 12-10-2013 to 11-10-2014
2011107128 Z2013F10A 118 2013F10A12B 22014510118
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2014 304  12-10-2014 to 11-10-2015
20111071282 2014F10A 118 2014510128 22015510 A 11H
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2015 304  12-10-2015 to 11-10-2016
2011510A 126220156 10A11A 2015610A12BZ2016510A 1A
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2016 304  12-10-2016 to 11-10-2017
201110/ 128 Z20166F10A 118 2016510 12BZE2017510A 118
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2017 304  12-10-2017 to 11-10-2018
201110/ 128 Z2017410A 118 201710126 ZE2018%510A11H
1,400 6,900 8,300
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28. Share option scheme (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

., l‘:

™
-

&

’ Notes to Financial Statements
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2011412 H31H

28. /B ESTE (4)

AR R8I 2 B B I AN 4R 2 (A R
17fE

2011 2010

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
hnfE R IR piliL:3 AR
FHITEE HE FHITEE A
HK$ ’000 HK$ ‘000

per share per share
BRET TH  BRET T
At 1 January R1A1H - - - -
Granted during the year FARH 3.04 8,300 = =
Forfeited during the year FRE UL - - - -
Exercised during the year FATTEE - - = =
Expired during the year FRE|H - - = =
At 31 December ®W12H31H 3.04 8,300 = =

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was HK$8,126,514 of which the Group recognised a share
option expense of RMB392,000 during the year ended 31
December 2011.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant,
using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

FRNRHz2EREZATESE
8,126,514/  EF AEERNEE
2011512 A31 B It FE R B AE
&2 AR #392,0007T °

FARBZRGHEBREZAF
BETREL B PHNE B RR G
it WRERRHBREZGHRR
iRt o TRINRAERAZRE 2 &
ABE -

2011
Dividend yield (%) MREZE(%) 2.35
Expected volatility (%) TE B 8 (%) 38.48
Historical volatility (%) JE SRR (%) 38.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ g2 1 2R (%) 1.12
Expected life of options (year) TEHRAB AR AR (4F) 3.00 — 700
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) I HAE (BIEIT) 3.04

The expected life of the options is determined with
reference to the vesting term and original contractual term
of the Scheme and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

BRECEHERHM2EHE 2
BEBGEAMRAOKEIMET
BT —ERRATEEITZITER
2 o TE HIIM 08 S R R SR IR SR R
KBEZ2BRE MET—ER/ER
BR o
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Notes to Financial Statements %" &/ \¢" %5
B & $R R MfsF 31 December 2011

28.

29.

2011412H31H

Share option scheme (continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
8,300,000 (2010: Nil) share options outstanding under
the Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 8,300,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of HK$830,000 and share premium of
HK$24,402,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 8,300,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme, which represented approximately 1% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Reserves
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the
PRC are required to make appropriations to certain
statutory reserves, namely the reserve funds, from
their statutory profit for the year after offsetting
accumulated losses as determined under the PRC
accounting regulations from prior years and before
profit distribution to equity holders. The percentage
to be appropriated to such statutory reserve funds is
determined according to the relevant regulations in
the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the boards of
directors of the respective companies.

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR

28. /B HESTE ()

R EQFERBEMAERBR
R E MR -

RFEBRR  NAGEETHS
8,300,00017 (20104 : 1) M &
TEERE EARRZEITRA
BT - 2EITEERITEBERE
15 =5 3£ 778,300,000 % ZBHN R A 7
8 A% K B 4830,000% T 2 BB 4N
% 72K % 24,402,000 T 2 % 17 i (B
(RETETRZAT) o

RHEZENBHRE 2B - AAA
E5HEI T A 8,300,00017 R 1T71{E
BB E - (hZBARR B ETRD
#91% o

29. f#&

(a) =& H

AEERAFERBEFREZ
RESELFEEICREE
BEREHRED -

AN B AR B A SR B A B
BHETACHEELDIK
BUAR & o B & 5 £ A B R I 85
FEERFTBRERAERSEES
ADERFER - B FIEER
BEIEHAE - HZSEAER
BEeEHORMBE DL - RIE
A R AT A0%E E
SHEBRARMNESENIEE
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29.

g g o 9% 5.5 Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 R N
20114124314 R 25 R = Y
Reserves (continued) 29.f#4E (&)
(b) Company (b) & AT
Employee
share-based  Exchange
Share compensation  fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
DY)

RiEE EEMERE ERRE RENE ait

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

firit ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2010 R201061 418 1,522,349 - - 6,683  1529,032

Profit for the year FRMNE 11 - - - 55,948 55,948
Exchange differenceson  [EH =5

translation - - (36,189) - (36,189)

2010 interim dividend 20105 HRE 12 - - - (20,885) (20,885)

Proposed 2010 final dividend  $8/&2010F R B 8. 12 = = = (21,580) (21,580

At 31 December 2010 #2010612A31H 1,522,349 = (36,189) 20,166 1,506,326

Profit for the year ERFIE 11 - - - 36,407 36,407
Equity-settled share Bt

option arrangements BiRERH - 392 - - 392
Exchange differenceson ~ EH =%

franslation - - (48,161) - (48,161)

2011 interim dividend 01FERERE 12 = = = (27,390) (27,390)

Proposed 2011 final dividend #R20 11 EXR SRS 12 = - = (29,050) (29,050)

At 31 December 2011 R2011512A31H 1,522,349 392 (84,350) 133 1,438,524
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Notes to Financial Statements ™. 7 _ ' : : ] : _ 54

FARERER

On 14 July 2011, COFCO (BVI) No0.33 Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
share purchase agreement with Longbow Int'l Investment
Development Limited (“Longbow”), pursuant to which
COFCO (BVI) No.33 Limited agreed to purchase all issued
share capital of Keep Excellence, who owned 48% equity
interest in a company located in Mainland China, in which

31 December 2011 ) . ' b L i
B R M o 20114128318
- | - - - A A
o 30. Business combination 30. (%56t
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS Business combination for the year ended 31 December 2011 BZ2011F12A31BLFE ¥

Bt

R2011E7RA148 - KRRz 2 &
MERFHIE (%Eiﬁﬁmﬁ %)
%334 R 2 7 ElLongbow Int’ |
Investment Development Limited
([Longbow]) 7T 37 B8 % 15 7% « #&
b e (EEERRHS) £33F
R~ &l [R E A A K 119,886,000

STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL the Group owned 52% equity interest on the acquisition TzReREBEWERS (H#EE—
E’?S;&Oyﬁ date, at a cash consideration of RMB119,886,000. The AL 70 P B 3t B 1 A B948%h%
A THAIRY

acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share in the steel barrels market.

A summary of the fair values of the related identifiable
assets acquired as at the date of acquisition is as follows:

AiEZ RIWEBHHS £E#HE
Hoo%fe ANiEem) < 2 EPE BT
Ko WEBEBEAANEBRELEN
WS SDERNERE —31)

RUEE B H 2 A8 B W s T & A
BEZAFERDRNT

NOTES TO THE Fair value
FINANCIAL ;
STATEMENTS recognised
BRI on acquisition
U ERER
A/ = |
Notes RMB’000
et ARET T
Property, plant and equipment Y -« BB NEE 14 51,940
Land use rights + b {E R RE 15 24,404
Total identifiable net assets BAYEFEZ
FIVE-YEAR at fair value BOE BRI EEFE 76,344
FINANCIAL : P B P S
SOMMARY Goodwill on acquisition W R 2 16 43,542
HEHKHE 119,886
Satisfied by cash LR A AT 119,886

184

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purpose.

Business combination for the year ended 31 December
2010

On 26 April 2010, COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a share purchase agreement with International United
Group Ltd. (“IUGL”), pursuant to which COFCO (BVI)
No.34 Limited agreed to purchase all issued share capital
of International United Group Limited (“IUGLHK”) and its
wholly-owned subsidiary Shanghai Pinguan from IUGL at a
cash consideration of approximately RMB146,606,000. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share in the plastic packaging market.

CPMC Holdings Limited Aigf =ik H R AR

BHHMEC R ZBBEAIGAE
i o

HZ2010F12A831B L EE 2%
a6t

R2010%4 A268 @ &NA 7l & &K
BARFIE (RBHERRHE) 534
ERAFERATEBBMSEEER
AE ([@E]) 513 7B = o R
BEERHZ PR (EBER B
) F34ARARREINRERE
% A R #146,606,0007T 1 E'—?Mﬁz
BESLTEHEREAS %.ﬁﬁﬁ
(I&5RE]) &ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%
BREEEEBEITRA - Hﬂzﬁ%%lﬁ
AAEEEREEEBEEMSN
TSN BRI R —30) -



30.

Business combination (continued)

Business combination for the year ended 31 December

2010 (continued)

A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and

&N i : &N d g

S ol FF AN

a6t (8

30. %5 0F ()
HZ2010F12831B L FEZ %5

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 ﬁjﬁ*&%ﬁ;j—%}

2011412 A31H

tEmEREEERZAIER#RE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FARERER

liabilities of Shanghai Pinguan as at the date of acquisition EZAFERMRAT
is as follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
MU R
ZAFE
Notes RMB’000
Hiat ARBFIT
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB KRR 14 47,204
Deposits for purchase of items of BEME BER
property, plant and equipment B s 1,051
Inventories ESS 19,274
Trade receivables =GN 45,541
Prepayments, deposits and AN Zek
other receivables F R UK 5,080
Pledged deposits BIEATH 16,636
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEFEEY 52,220
Trade and bills payables H S ENFRRENEE (14,804)
Other payables and accruals Hib NS R ERIEE (35,379)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT BERITER (43,511)
Tax payable FESHIE (95)
Deferred tax liabilities BETIEAR 26 (2,129)
Finance lease payables B & & PR K (2,426)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 7] RIF & E A T EERE 88,662
Goodwill on acquisition WiEH & 16 57,944
146,606
Satisfied by cash* LR e A 146,606

* Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, approximately
RMB40,000,000 out of the total consideration of
approximately RMB146,606,000 will be paid in two years
after the completion of the acquisition.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purpose.

* REBRGE BAREHIAR
#146,606,0007T F 7 # A
40,000,000 45 RYL B BB 526 14
HEST T »

BHMECERZAEBRNGAE
B e
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Notes to Financial Statements  ™5:.5" 2,0\ & %0 9,08 500 90s S ee San
Z) +=F 31 December 2011
R 25 2 i 20114124318
CONSOLIDATED 30. Business combination (continued) 30.¥B &6 (&)
STATEMENT OF
QAAS';E;L&WES? Business combination for the year ended 31 December BZ2010F12A31B L EE %%
[ONERE A== i
2010 (continued) &6t ()
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition FRAWBEENHESRINBOT
is as follows:
RMB’000
AR®TR
SEA;EN“QE’\SAL Cash consideration paid BAESRE (106,606)
POSITION Cash and cash equivalents acquired EEARSRIFESZEEY 52,220
RLIES Net outflow of cash and cash BEAEEESHESTNES
equivalents included in cash flows RASEBYRLFE
from investing activities (54,386)
31. Contingent liabilities . JAAE
At the end of the reporting period, neither the Group nor R EBRERE - NEBHAAQA
N “pe . . agegs \\/IE E\% /E\ ®
NOTES T0 THE the Company had any significant contingent liabilities. TV EEFRBEBAKARRE
FINANCIAL R
STATEMENTS 32. Pledge of assets N.EBEREE
Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable and AEBUAEFERZ SRR - &
bank loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group, NEBERBITERZFBEDRIER
are included in Notes 22, 23 and 25, respectively to the IS IRERMIEE22 - 23 /%25 °
financial statements.
33. Operating lease arrangements . REHERH
FIVE-YEAR
FINANGIAL As lessee fERAEBA
SUMMARY
i 2 @ Mk o] ++
BEEE The Group leases certain of its office properties, factories AEERBELEMANZHERET
and warehouses under operating lease arrangements. MAEME BEMRER -#EEY
Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from FHEBANF—ZE+—F -
one to eleven years.
At 31 December 2011, the Group had total future minimum REBR2011F 12831 HRE T2
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases HIRE B 2 TRl MH AR 2 A
falling due as follows: NZARKERSBTOAT :
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥ETIT
Within one year —F R 12,558 12,481
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_EFERF
(BRREEWSF) 19,356 23,888
After five years AFi% 12,921 18,872
44,835 55,241
1 86 CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR
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34. Commitments

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed

&N d g

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 Eji%*&ﬁﬁj%}

2011412 H31H

34. &

B B EE33pTI 2 8 £ T B 2 A&

in Note 33 above, the Group had the following capital N RIEBERBAEEB A
commitments at the end of the reporting period: AT
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T
Capital commitments in respect of @M= - BE
property, plant and equipment: N ERAB B AR AGE

Contracted, but not provided for EETAERIEL R 244,033 159,418
Authorised, but not contracted for EHEBRRETL) 1,071,482 6,490
1,315,515 165,908

The Company did not have any significant commitments as
at the end of reporting period (2010: Nil).

AR TR RS B 4 R A I S ] &
A (20104F : #) -

35. Related party transactions [L.AEALRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BRAWEHREREMIFFTEZ
in these financial statements, the Group had the RGN REBRF A HERE
following material transactions with related parties ATHETEARZAT
during the year:
Group
AEE
2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HieE AR¥T T ARET T
Transactions with the ultimate  BEGAR %A% (i)
holding company: NAIMR S :
Rental expense izher b3 701 =
Transactions with EARHE N ]
a related company: RIS
Sale of products HEE D (i) 7,043 5,719
Rental expense HEMx (i) 391 440
Transactions with fellow EA[R) I EB A A
subsidiaries: x5
Sale of products HEE R (i) 76,122 28,530
Rental expense e (i) 1,308 1,365
Interest income FBUA (i) 907 =
Interest expense (Note 7) FERZ (B:E7) (iv) 2,643 =
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Notes to Financial Statements  %,:.5" P ‘ -
B F& 3R FRMFsF 3! December 2011

2011412H31H

35. Related party transactions (continued)

(a) (continued)
Notes:

(i)  The sales to the fellow subsidiaries and a related
company were made according to the published prices
and conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

(i) The rental expenses were determined with reference to
the prevailing market rental.

(iii)  The interest income arising from deposits to COFCO
Finance was determined in accordance with the
prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated by People’s
Bank of China.

(iv) The interest expense arising from loans from COFCO
Finance was charged with reference to the prevailing
RMB lending rates promulgated by People’s Bank of
China and the prevailing market conditions.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

3p.BEALRS (#)
(a) (#&)
Biit -

(i) [IBTEE 2 B R B 2 5] A 35
EIRIEE T # (B 15 K 1E 7
biL S - By
T o

(i) B2BXI2ZHRITTHEH

(iii)  EE E e 7R FLE
WA T35 B8 i B A 2R 7T AT
B HETAREZHLFER
MEE °

(iv) ELETIER % B FE
X ELZ P A RRTT
BT B B 1T A B BB 5T
E R B FI AR R

(b) BEEEALZMEHRBHREA

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Trade receivables (Note 20): B SR (FiFE20) -
Fellow subsidiaries A ZMIEAF] 29,975 8,924
A related company b ENE] 3,822 257
Prepayments, deposits and other BRR EHek
receivables (Note 21): E iR (fisE21) :
Fellow subsidiaries EES =G 97 40
The ultimate holding company S S NG 135 130
Trade payables (Note 23): B S (BiRE23) ¢
Fellow subsidiaries GEL =N 328 =
Other payables and accruals HAib N R et &
(Note 24): (MfzE24) -
Fellow subsidiaries EEX)=YNG] 48 331
A related company b ENG - 4
Deposits placed: REFRR
A fellow subsidiary EES N EPNG] 211,802 742
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note 25):  &f 2 f&2k (KizE25)
A fellow subsidiary EESLEPNG]! 56,000 -

Except for the deposits to and the interest-bearing
borrowings from a fellow subsidiary, COFCO Finance,
the above balances are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR
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35. Related party transactions (continued) B.FBEALRS (&) e
STATEMENT OF
(c) Transactions and balances with other State-owned (c) BHEMBELEZFANR SR CASH FLOWS
Enterprises FREE FERERER
The Group operates in an economic environment AEEELHLERERHE
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly EXZRTERFBBERS
owned or controlled by the PRC government MR BB HMAME
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other BEREERERZHHER
organisations (collectively “State-owned Enterprises”). (BB RE]) - RFEAR
During the year, the Group enters into extensive SEETEEENIIEE R
transactions, mainly covering purchases of tinplates FHETRERG FEPREK
with State-owned Enterprises, other than the COFCO BHEOE - BREXSERER JE—
Group, at terms comparable to those with other tIEE B R EMILERSE ° RO
non state-owned enterprises. In addition, the Group 1H:$7|\ R20114F12A318 * & POSITION
has certain of its cash and pledged deposits and BRPRE ?Iﬁfﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ SRR E
outstanding bank loans with certain state-owned :Ffii&ETfETEﬁT_ KA R R ME
banks in the PRC as at 31 December 2011, as BIRITE - BamT
summarised below:
Group
rEH
2011 2010
ARBTT ARETTT FINANCIAL
Cash and cash equivalents R RBLZEEY 1,290,400 347,124 s;\;;gg;ﬁg
Pledged deposits B FER 57,913 34,706
1,348,313 381,830
Bank loans RITER 1,112,230 1,112,230
The directors consider that transactions with other EERA BEMBALEN
State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary REGRBEATFEBBERET
course of the business, and that dealings of the Group M) - BN SR [E B AR LR FIVE-YEAR
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the BT Bx AR PR | S A R B A 1 FINANCIAL
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises (NESZWREXIANTER SEUMMAF;:
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC £ o 5 B B E E an A AR 75 RFABRER
government. The Group has also established pricing VR BB - s LRI
policies for products and services, and such policies BAREBEFEEREREE-
do not depend on whether or not the customers REAFEREBEFEXNEE
are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to MEGR ESRBELERS
the substance of the relationships, the directors of WIBERBEE AR ZME ST
the Company are of the opinion that none of these FLARFE -
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d) XEEFZEEAENME
Group:
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT
Short term employee benefits SE-E == E =R 3,968 3,682
Post-employment benefits B2 12T 320 289
Equity-settled share option expenses  #E sk 45 & B AR R 2 99 -
Total compensation paid to key YINFEEERE
management personnel A B BE < 4,387 3,971
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included AAEEMEMNE—SHFRRARH
in Note 8 to the financial statements. MR EESA o
Annual Report 2011 =& ——FF# 1 89
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36. Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting
follows:

period are as

36.ZERIEAITWERMTA

EemTEERRBEHARNER
(EV N

Group

rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Financial assets
Loan and receivables

TREE
ERK EWRTE

Trade and bills receivables B 5B R E 609,484 635,885
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATB 3 - & &
deposits and other receivables EA R R SR E E 20,563 21,145
Pledged deposits BEHEFFR 65,326 47,281
Cash and cash equivalents BEFIREEEY 1,611,816 481,172
2,307,189 1,185,483
Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Financial liabilities TRaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEH A EZSRIA MG
Trade and bills payables B SRR MENRE 855,796 691,379
Financial liabilities included in other s AE A FERT R
payables and accruals EETERANSRAE 233,286 146,265
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 28817 & H b {3 2,190,996 520,318
3,280,078 1,357,962

CPMC Holdings Limited A ig 8 245 G R A ]
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36. Financial instruments by category (continued) 36.1Z\HE T HERT A ()

Company
b NN
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETT
Financial assets SRIEE
Loan and receivables ERRERRE
Due from a subsidiary FEUR BT /B A R FRIE 161,542 102,504
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATB 3 - #H& &
deposits and other receivables HA R R SR E E 504 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 803,267 7,258
965,313 109,762
Company
b /N
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Financial liabilities THEeE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R A2 SREE
Financial liabilities included in other ST A AR R
payables and accruals EErEANSRAE 23,191 7,957
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHESRITIER 2,011,754 418,147
2,034,945 426,104
The carrying amounts of the above financial assets and RIBEHR UELEeREELRESR
financial liabilities approximate to their respective fair BENREES HIEELATERSE

values as at the end of the reporting period.
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37. Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk,
and cash flow and fair value interest rate risks), credit risk,
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency risk

The Company and most of its subsidiaries’
functional currency is RMB since the majority of
the revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 22) and bank borrowings (Note
25), which are denominated in USD and HKD.
The Group has not hedged its foreign exchange
rate since the exposure is not significant.

As at 31 December 2011, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against USD with
all other variables held constant, the post-tax
profit for each of the years would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on the translation of cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings denominated in USD
and HKD. Details of changes are as follows:

7. KAREEEEREE

PBEREER
AEENESEAKREETR TR
B misER (BENER
w - BigER ReRERQFE
MERER) FERRBRERBHESRE
e AEEMEERREENEE
TREMTIZOARBRNE - X
SKER KR B [ (K A &R BB 15 K
BOEBEETHEE -

(a) WH5/E R
(i) SMNERER
ARRIREZHH B R A
I ER ABEARY
BEFERNRZAZHBA
JEE AR R - Hh
R R 2R B A BRE /YIRS
KEARBERH RO
RNEERBE  WMMUE
TERABTTENES R
©EEY (KF22) kiR
1TfE K (KFaE25) - A A
ZRBITTEKN - AEE
I oK ¥ o H HNEEIE K [

& o
ZoN

R2011F12A8318 i
FrE Efh B EURIFETE
mAREREETHE
B2E% ' EETFESF
") %18 7B & B BTk
B EETEHRBREMNUE
TTRBTFHENR S KR
T EEY KGR E H I
=R BEFE W

T
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBT T
Post-tax profit increase/(decrease) Fi&FEE N, CR4)
— Strengthened 5% — FHE5% (5,136) 11,796
— Weakened 5% — B21B5% 5,136 (11,796)

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR
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I7. M BEMEE B ERBEK (&)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued) MERBEE (&)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) TEER (&)

(i)

(iii)

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw
materials of the Group. The price for tinplate and
aluminium may be affected by market demand
and supply, domestic government policy and
other economic conditions. In order to maintain
a continued production cycle, the Group has a
policy of maintaining a certain level of tinplate
and aluminium inventories. The level of the
Group’s tinplate and aluminium inventories will
depend on orders on hand, the price of tinplate
and aluminium in the market and the perceived
future trend of the tinplate and aluminium price.
In selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes
into consideration the price and quality of the
tinplate and aluminium. The directors believe it
is not necessary for the Group to enter into any
long-term supply contracts with its suppliers to
ensure stable material prices as there are various
sources of tinplate and aluminium and the Group
has not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

Except for bank deposits with stable interest
rates, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The Group
has not hedged its cash flow and fair value
interest rate risks. The interest rates and terms of
repayments of bank borrowings are disclosed in
Note 25.

(i)

(iiif)

e
SOEMIREAREENE
BREMF - FEOEHFEE
ROl B MBHE - B
A ST R BR DA B L i 4
Hj(/ ‘i/% 75'5 f%%i?
AR FRE - AERHE
B AR —EKRTHE
AEMinEE -  AEER
B O M FEEIUARF
SHETE - M5 E DA
BEARAIERRRZE
AEMIRERE - REEH
BRI AEE—RER
BO#EMBERARED
HAREE - EEMAE
BB B & R R %
DA R 7 £ [ 3 £ (R B = 44
MeEEROEMmRET
KR - Bt AE B AT
T ARES O HMEERK
Z AR T B E AR R
Fr REMEHESE -

RenhE kA FEEME
[EE
B‘ﬁ/\ﬁ%iﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FRON - AN BN E A
MEBERGFEEE - A5E
ZWARKEHEREER
B EX =TS EES)

2.4
4=

REBENMXER 2R
BfgR - ZEERTEE
B & 2| e nEHER
TN =N S E TS
RATFEMERRE - ]NE
BWEREBESRERA
SEE ) R @ E 1T
R o SRIT A A 2 R K
HAPO B 5T 254K 58 ©
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37. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (continued)

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulting from
the changes in interest rates, because the
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected
to change significantly.

As at 31 December 2011, if interest rates on
bank borrowings had been 10 basis points
higher/lower with all other variable held constant,
the post-tax profit for each of the year would
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings.
Details of the changes are as follows:

7.9 BEREEEERBE (&)

BMBEREE (&)

(a)

5 ERE (&)

(i) BReRERRAFERNX
Rk (&)
AR IRTTF KA A R B
TeANERES BEER
N EnEH IS EHTE
BEELEARE -

20114128318 » fHpT
BHMEBERFTEMIE
TEERNEEFH TEE10
EEZ - AREZEMER
MR BTN R
ERFTESFEREFNBE

mT

(b) Credit risk

2011 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETTT

Post-tax profit increase/(decrease)  Fi/&AIE®E Rt 4>)
- 10 basis points higher — EFHOfEEE (7,762) (424)
- 10 basis points lower — TBE10MEES, 7,762 424
(b) 1=E/= R

Except for the sales to the top five largest customers B B 75 3 2= B 5E4 AT 2 B9 (/) AR

of the Group as detailed in Note 4 to the financial
statements, the Group has no other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The carrying amounts of
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and bills receivables and other receivables
included in the consolidated financial statements
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.

(i)

Deposits with banks

As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, all pledged
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
were deposited in licensed financial institutions
without significant credit risk. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance of
these counterparties.

CPMC Holdings Limited F g2 Z AR AR

SESAAUTIERFPNHEE
Sh AEEYEHEMIEES
MIERRR - 558 M B REA
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Trade receivables

Management assesses the credit risk of
customers by taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

For those key customers with a long-term
relationship, on some occasions the Group
offered credit terms up to 90 days. The granting
or extension of any credit period must be
approved by senior management of the Group.

An allowance has been made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sales of goods
which has been determined by reference to past
default experience and objective evidence of
impairment such as an analysis of the particular
customers and their financial condition and the
ages of the trade receivables.

The carrying amount of trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and
other receivables has been made in the financial
statements.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funds through adequate amounts of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions.

Except for interest-bearing bank borrowings, all the
Group’s other financial liabilities will be settled within
six months based on the remaining contractual
maturity date at the end of the reporting period and
their contractual undiscounted payment amounts are
disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2011 E\j;]’%ﬁ% M;J—%I

2011412 H31H
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(b) 1=ERERE (&)

(c)
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CONSOLIDATED 37 Financial risk management objectives and 7.0 ESERE B ERBER (&)
STATEMENT OF policies (continued)
CASH FLOWS

SRR HEEREE (F)

(c) EBELES (&)
BIEAMOFRERNRE A%
54 3R 25 B o 4045 77 % B
B BE R T

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is

as follows:
STATEMENT 6 to
SSSF‘%NC‘AL Less than less than 1to
BN R 6 months 12 months 5 years Total
DR 6fEA = 162
6f8A LM2MEAR 5% =N
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETIT AR®ETT
Group rEH
Interest-bearing bank and FHRIRITR
L‘&TAENSJ:LTHE other borrowings HAER 179,242 189,704 1,822,050 2,190,996
STATEMENTS
BB ERME Company KA T

Interest-bearing bank and FFRIRITR
other borrowings HAb &K

189,704 1,822,050 2,011,754

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going

EXER
AEBEEREANBEHNRRERE
BABNSECE D A BBRREHR

E:\A/I/E\NYCEQT concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and Bl IA R B H MR B AT R
SUMMARY benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal @ WHERREE NGB AR
HEHKHE

196

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital represents equity, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt.

CPMC Holdings Limited Aigf =ik H R AR
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37. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Capital management (continued)
The Group’s strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within
30% to 70%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2011 is as

’ Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2011 Eji%*&ﬁﬁj%}

2011412 A31H

I7. M BEMEE B ERBEK (&)

BAEE (HE)
AEBZRBEAEBEEAGBILL XS
FE30%ET0% 2 K ° B2011F12

follows: AB1BZEEBEHLENOT :
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Total interest-bearing bank and ETERITREAM

other borrowings (Note 25) e (HisE2s) 2,190,996 520,318

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BeMREEEY
(Note 22) (Mtzx22) (1,611,816) (481,172)
Net debt BEFHE 579,180 39,146
Total equity B 2,638,365 2,401,150
Total capital BER 3,217,545 2,440,296
Gearing ratio BEAGELR 18% 1.60%

38. Approval of the financial statements 38. #EM B *

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2012.

EEFEN20125F3H26 R #L# k&%
BT BEAMBERE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary 5% 5 37655 3745
LFEMBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is

AEEEETEAVYRFREZXEERE
E RAEEFERESHEDRZAC
Tl 2 EEREEVBRRLEEN
EXBE(WMER) EEATHRT

as below: X
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB0O00 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
STATEMENT ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
e - Revenue KA 4,302,277 3416691 3,066,145 3,349,494 2,739,518
BsRE Cost of sales SHER A (3,647,944) (2,890,984) (2,601,081) (2,950,436) (2,402,226)
Gross profit EX| 694,333 525707 465064 399,058 337,292
Other gain/(losses)- net Hih ezt /
(BB 38 42,173 67,192 11,860 (6,710) 12,799
Selling and marketing expenses  $45& & & & (181,191)  (140,959) (117,832)  (101,218)  (111,670)
Administrative expenses 1THE (206,946)  (159,040)  (139,195) (123,952)  (88,960)
Finance costs-net MBER —$%8 14,646 (6,699)  (38,646)  (42,588)  (20,863)
TR Profit before income tax BR R 1S5 AT RUE 363,015 286201 181251 124590 128598
FINANCIAL Income tax expense FTiSiFAX (77222)  (67,882)  (27,410)  (26,440)  (24,650)
STATEMENTS )
SiEEH Profit for the year EERTS 285,793 218319 153,841 98,150 103,948
Attributable to: ek
Equity holders of the Company  AQGEI#EZEZHE A 280,298 212,273 146,873 92,462 87,988
Non-controlling interests IR 5,495 6,046 6,968 5,688 15,960
285,793 218319 153,841 98,150 103,948
Assets, liabilities and BE - AEH
non-controlling interests FERER
FIVE-YEAR Total assets 1R E 6,022,585 3,952,266 3,669,156 2,710,519 2,533,882
gmm; Total liabilities BaE (3,384,220) (1,551,116) (1,436,065) (1,534,723) (1,837,180)
BEHBHE Non-controlling interests IR RE R (84,052)  (78,557)  (72,511)  (65,543)  (89,340)
2,554,313 2322593 2,160,580 1,110,253 607,362

198
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